DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICIAL CODE

TITLE 21. FIDUCIARY RELATIONS AND PERSONS WITH MENTAL ILLNESS.

CHAPTER 20.

GUARDIANSHIP, PROTECTIVE PROCEEDINGS, AND

DURABLE POWER OF ATTORNEY.

2001 Edition

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICIAL CODE

CHAPTER 20. GUARDIANSHIP, PROTECTIVE PROCEEDINGS, AND DURABLE POWER OF ATTORNEY.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Subchapter I. General Provisions.

- § 21-2001. Rule of construction; purposes.
- § 21-2002. Supplementary general principles of law applicable.
- § 21-2003. Standard of proof.
- § 21-2004. Effect of a finding of incapacity.

Subchapter II. Definitions.

■ § 21-2011. Definitions.

Subchapter III. Scope.

- § 21-2021. Territorial application.
- § 21-2022. Practice in court.
- § 21-2023. Jury trial. [Repealed]
- § 21-2024. Appeals.

Subchapter IV. Notice, Parties, and Representation in Guardianship and Protective Proceedings.

- § 21-2031. Notice; method, contents, and time of giving.
- § 21-2032. Notice; waiver.
- § 21-2033. Guardian ad litem; counsel; visitor.
- § 21-2034. Request for notice; interested person.

Subchapter V. Guardians of Incapacitated Individuals.

- § 21-2041. Procedure for court-appointment of a guardian of an incapacitated individual.
- § 21-2042. Notice; guardianship proceeding.
- § 21-2043. Who may be guardian; priorities.
- § 21-2044. Findings; order of appointment.
- \blacksquare § 21-2045. Acceptance of appointment; consent of jurisdiction.
- § 21-2046. Temporary guardians.
- § 21-2047. Powers and duties of general guardian and limited guardian.
- § 21-2047.01. Limitations on temporary, limited, and general guardians.
- § 21-2047.02. Powers and duties of emergency and health-care guardians.
- § 21-2048. Termination of guardianship for incapacitated individual.
- § 21-2049. Removal or resignation of guardian; termination of incapacity.

Subchapter VI. Protection of Property of Incapacitated, Disappeared or Detained Individuals.

- § 21-2052. Original petition for appointment or protective order.
- § 21-2053. Notice.
- § 21-2054. Procedure concerning hearing and order on original petition.
- § 21-2055. Permissible court orders.
- § 21-2056. Protective arrangements and single transactions authorized.
- § 21-2057. Who may be appointed conservator; priorities.
- § 21-2058. Bond.
- § 21-2059. Effect of acceptance of appointment.
- § 21-2060. Compensation and expenses.
- § 21-2061. Death, resignation, or removal of conservator.
- § 21-2062. Petitions for orders subsequent to appointment.
- \blacksquare § 21-2063. General duty of conservator.
- § 21-2064. Inventory and records.
- § 21-2065. Accounts.
- § 21-2066. Conservators; title by appointment.
- § 21-2067. Recording of conservator's letters.
- § 21-2068. Sale, encumbrance, or transaction involving conflict of interest; voidable; exceptions.
- § 21-2069. Persons dealing with conservators; protection.
- § 21-2070. Powers of conservator in administration.
- § 21-2071. Distributive duties and powers of conservator.
- § 21-2072. Enlargement or limitation of powers of conservator.
- § 21-2073. Preservation of estate plan; right to examine.
- § 21-2074. Personal liability of conservator.
- § 21-2075. Termination of proceedings.
- § 21-2076. Payment of debt and delivery of property to foreign conservator without local proceedings.
- § 21-2077. Foreign conservator; proof of authority; bond; powers.

Subchapter VII. Durable Power of Attorney.

- § 21-2081. Definition.
- § 21-2082. Durable power of attorney not affected by incapacity.
- § 21-2083. Relation of attorney in fact to court-appointed fiduciary.
- § 21-2084. Power of attorney not revoked until notice.
- \blacksquare § 21-2085. Proof of continuance of durable and other powers of attorney by affidavit.

Subchapter VIII. Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests. [Repealed]

- § 21-2091. Right to disclaim interest in property. [Repealed]
- § 21-2092. Time of disclaimer; delivery. [Repealed]
- § 21-2093. Form of disclaimer. [Repealed]
- § 21-2094. Effect of disclaimer. [Repealed]
- § 21-2095. Waiver and bar.[Repealed]
- § 21-2096. Remedy not exclusive. [Repealed]
- § 21-2097. Application. [Repealed]
- § 21-2098. Uniformity of application and construction.[Repealed]

CHAPTER 20. GUARDIANSHIP, PROTECTIVE PROCEEDINGS, AND DURABLE POWER OF ATTORNEY.

Refs & Annos

Jurisdiction	Laws	Effective Date	Statutory Citation
Alabama	1007 No 07	1-1-1988	Code 1075 SS 26 2A 1 to 26 2A 160
Alabama	1987, No. 87- 590	1-1-1900	Code 1975, §§ 26-2A-1 to 26-2A-160.
Alaska	1972, c. 78		AS 13.26.005 to 13.26.320.
Arizona	1973, c. 75	1-1-1974	A.R.S. §§ 14-5201 to 14-5212.
District of Columbia	1987, D.C. Law 6-204	5-29-1987	D.C. Official Code, 2001 Ed. §§ 21-2001 to 21- 2077.
ldaho	1971, c. 111	7-1-1972	IC §§ 15-5-101 to 15-5-435.
Maine	1979, c. 540	1-1-1981	18-A M.R.S.A. §§ 5-101 to 5-432.
Montana	1974, c. 365	7-1-1975	MCA 72-5-101 to 72-5-439.
Nebraska	1974, LB 354	1-1-1977	R.R.S. 1943, §§ 30-2601 to 30-2661.
New Mexico	1975, c. 257	7-1-1976	NMSA 1978, §§ 45-5-101 to 45-5-432.
North Dakota	1973, c. 257	7-1-1975	NDCC 30.1-26-01 to 30.1-29-32.
South Carolina	1986, Act 539	7-1-1987	Code 1976, §§ 62-5-101 to 62-5-435.
Utah	1975, c. 150	7-1-1977	U.C.A. 1953, 75-5-101 to 75-5-433.

SUBCHAPTER I. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

§ 21-2001. RULE OF CONSTRUCTION; PURPOSES.

- (a) This chapter shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes and policies.
- (b) The underlying purposes and policies of this chapter are to:
 - (1) Simplify and clarify the law concerning the affairs of missing individuals, protected individuals, and incapacitated individuals;
 - (2) Promote a speedy and efficient system for managing and protecting the estates of protected individuals so that assets may be preserved for application to the needs of protected individuals and their dependents; and
 - (3) Provide a system of general and limited guardianships for incapacitated individuals and coordinate guardianships and protective proceedings concerned with management and protection of estates of incapacitated individuals.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2001.

Legislative History of Laws

Law 6-204, the "District of Columbia Guardianship, Protective Proceedings, and Durable Power of Attorney Act of 1986," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 6-7, which was referred to the Committee on the Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 18, 1986, and December 16, 1986, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 8, 1987, it was assigned Act. No. 6-263 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

This section is based upon § 1-102 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2002. SUPPLEMENTARY GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF LAW APPLICABLE.

- (a) Unless displaced by the particular provisions of this chapter, the principles of law and equity supplement its provisions.
- (b) Nothing in this chapter shall operate to repeal, alter, or amend the rights of an individual who is the subject of a petition for civil commitment in any proceeding under Chapter 5 of Title 21, or the Citizens with Intellectual Disabilities Constitutional Rights and Dignity Act of 1978, effective November 8, 1978 (D.C. Law 2-137; D.C. Official Code, § 7-1301.01 et seq.).
- (c) Nothing in this chapter shall affect any guardian or conservator appointed by the court upon a petition filed prior to the effective date of this chapter.
- (d) An individual shall be presumed competent and to have the capacity to make legal, health-care, and all other decisions for himself or herself, unless certified otherwise under section 21-2204 or deemed incapacitated or incompetent by a court. Incapacity shall not be inferred from the fact that an individual:
 - (1) Has been voluntarily or involuntarily hospitalized for mental illness pursuant to Chapter 5 of Title 21; or
 - (2) Has an intellectual disability or has been determined by a court to be incompetent to refuse commitment under Chapter 13 of Title 7.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Sept. 22, 1989, D.C. Law 8-34, § 2(b), 36 DCR 5035; Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(a), 55 DCR 9206; Sept. 26, 2012, D.C. Law 19-169, § 21(h)(1), 59 DCR 5567.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2002.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 17-249 added subsec. (d).

D.C. Law 19-169, in subsec. (b), substituted "Citizens with Intellectual Disabilities" for "Mentally Retarded Citizens"; and, in subsec. (d)(2), substituted "Has an intellectual disability" for "Has mental retardation".

Temporary Amendments of Section

Section 2(a) of D.C. Law 16-194 added subsec. (d) to read as follows:

- "(d) An individual shall be presumed competent and to have the capacity to make legal, health-care, and all other decisions for himself or herself, unless certified otherwise under section 21-2204 or deemed incapacitated or incompetent by a court. Incapacity shall not be inferred from the fact that an individual:
- "(1) Has been voluntarily or involuntarily hospitalized for mental illness pursuant to Chapter 5 of Title 21; or
- "(2) Has mental retardation or has been determined by a court to be incompetent to refuse commitment under Chapter 13 of Title 7."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(a) of D.C. Law 17-100 added subsec. (d) to read as follows:

- "(d) An individual shall be presumed competent and to have the capacity to make legal, health-care, and all other decisions for himself or herself, unless certified otherwise under section 21-2204 or deemed incapacitated or incompetent by a court. Incapacity shall not be inferred from the fact that an individual:
- "(1) Has been voluntarily or involuntarily hospitalized for mental illness pursuant to Chapter 5 of Title 21; or
- "(2) Has mental retardation or has been determined by a court to be incompetent to refuse commitment under Chapter 13 of Title 7."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) amendment, see § 2(a) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Law 8-34, the "Guardianship Protective Proceedings, and Durable Power of Attorney Revision Amendment Act of 1989," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 8-226, which was referred to the Committee on the Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 13, 1989, and June 27, 1989, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on July 7, 1989, it was assigned Act No. 8-59 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 17-249, the "Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Amendment Act of 2008", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-432 which was referred to the Committee on Human Services. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on July 1, 2008, and July 15, 2008, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on August 4, 2008, it was assigned Act No. 17-496 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-249 became effective on October 22, 2008.

For history of Law 19-169, see notes under § 21-501.

References in Text

The "effective date of this chapter," referred to in subsection (c), is February 28, 1987.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1-103 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2003. STANDARD OF PROOF.

In proceedings under this chapter for the appointment of a guardian or conservator, either general or limited, or subsequent proceedings in which the powers of a guardian or conservator are sought to be enlarged, the petitioner or moving party shall present clear and convincing evidence that the appointment or enlargement of powers is warranted.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2003.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following \S 21-2001.

§ 21-2004. EFFECT OF A FINDING OF INCAPACITY.

A finding under this chapter that an individual is incapacitated shall not constitute a finding of legal incompetence. An individual found to be incapacitated shall retain all legal rights and abilities other than those expressly limited or curtailed in the order of appointment of a guardian or in a protective proceeding, or subsequent order of the court.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2004.

Legislative History of Laws

SUBCHAPTER II. DEFINITIONS.

§ 21-2011. DEFINITIONS.

For the purposes of this chapter, the term:

- (1) "Best interests" means promoting personal well-being by assessing:
 - (A) The reason for the proposed action, its risks and benefits, and any alternatives considered and rejected; and
 - (B) The least intrusive, least restrictive, and most normalizing course of action possible to provide for the needs of the individual.
- (1A) "Claims" in respect to a protected individual, means liabilities of the protected individual, whether arising in contract, tort, or otherwise, and liabilities of the estate that arise at or after the appointment of a conservator, including expenses of administration.
- (2) "Court" means the Superior Court of the District of Columbia.
- (3) "Conservator" means a person who is appointed by a court to manage the estate of a protected individual and includes a limited conservator described in section 21-2066(a).
- (4) "Counsel" means an attorney admitted to the practice of law in the District.
- (5) "District" means District of Columbia.
- (5A) "Domestic partner" shall have the same meaning as provided in § 32-701(3).
- (5B) "Domestic partnership" shall have the same meaning as provided in § 32-701(4).
- (5C) "Emergency care" means immediate treatment, including diagnostic treatment, provided in response to a sudden and acute medical crisis in order to avoid injury, extreme pain, impairment, or death.
- (6) "Estate" means the property of the individual whose affairs are subject to this chapter.
- (7) "Examiner" means an individual qualified by training or experience in the diagnosis, care, or treatment of the causes and conditions giving rise to the alleged incapacity, such as a gerontologist, psychiatrist, or qualified developmental disability professional.
- (8) "Guardian" means a person who has qualified as a guardian of an incapacitated individual pursuant to court appointment, not including a guardian ad litem, but including:
 - (A) A temporary guardian appointed as described in section 21-2046 for a finite period of time to serve as:
 - (i) An emergency guardian whose authority may not extend beyond 21 days and who may exercise any powers granted by court order and not prohibited by law;
 - (ii) A health-care guardian whose authority is granted for up to 90 days and may be extended for up to an additional 90 days to provide substituted consent in accordance with section 21-2210 for an individual certified as incapacitated for a health-care decision; or
 - (iii) A provisional guardian whose authority is granted for a specified period not to exceed 6 months, upon the court's finding that any guardian is not effectively performing duties and that the welfare of the incapacitated individual requires immediate action;
 - (B) A general guardian not limited by the court in scope as described in section 21-2044(c) or in time as described in section 21-2046; and
 - (C) A limited guardian whose powers are limited by the court as described in section 21-2044(c) and who is appointed for a finite period of time as described in section 21-2046 or for an indeterminate period of time.
- (9) "Guardian ad litem" means an individual appointed by the court to assist the subject of an intervention proceeding to determine his or her interests in regard to the guardianship or protective proceeding or to make that determination if the subject of the intervention proceeding is unconscious or otherwise wholly incapable of determining his or her interest in the proceeding even with assistance.
- (10) "Habilitation" means the process by which an individual is assisted to acquire and maintain those life skills that enable him or her to cope more effectively with the demands of his or her own person and of his or her own environment and to raise the level of his or her physical, intellectual, social, emotional, and economic efficiency.
- (11) "Incapacitated individual" means an adult whose ability to receive and evaluate information effectively or to communicate decisions is impaired to such an extent that he or she lacks the capacity

to manage all or some of his or her financial resources or to meet all or some essential requirements for his or her physical health, safety, habilitation, or therapeutic needs without court-ordered assistance or the appointment of a guardian or conservator.

- (11A) "Incapacitated individual for health-care decisions" means an adult individual who lacks sufficient mental capacity to:
 - (A) Appreciate the nature and implications of a health-care decision;
 - (B) Make a choice regarding the alternatives presented; or
 - (C) Communicate that choice in an unambiguous manner.
- (12) "Intervention proceeding" means any proceeding under this chapter.
- (13) "Lease" means an oil, gas, or other mineral lease.
- (14) "Letters" means letters of guardianship and letters of conservatorship.
- (15) "Manage financial resources" means those actions necessary to obtain, administer, and dispose of real and personal property, intangible property, business property, benefits, and income.
- (16) "Meet essential requirements for physical health or safety" means those actions necessary to provide health care, food, shelter, clothing, personal hygiene, and other care without which serious physical injury or illness is more likely than not to occur.
- (17) "Mortgage" means any conveyance, agreement, or arrangement in which property is used as collateral.
- (18) "Organization" includes a corporation, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, association, 2 or more persons having a joint or common interest, government, governmental subdivision or agency, or any other legal entity.
- (19) "Person" means an individual or an organization.
- (20) "Petition" means a written request to the court for an order after notice.
- (21) "Property" means anything that may be the subject of ownership, and includes both real and personal property and any interest in real or personal property.
- (22) "Protected individual" means an individual for whom a conservator has been appointed or other protective order has been made as provided in sections 21-2055 and 21-2056.
- (23) "Protective proceeding" means a proceeding under the provisions of subchapter VI of this chapter.
- (24) "Qualified developmental disability professional" means:
 - (A) A psychologist with at least a master's degree from an accredited program and with specialized training or 1 year of experience in intellectual disabilities;
 - (B) A physician licensed to practice medicine in the District and with specialized training in intellectual disabilities or with 1 year of experience in treating individuals with intellectual disabilities;
 - (C) An educator with a degree in education from an accredited program and with specialized training or 1 year of experience in working with individuals with intellectual disabilities;
 - (D) A social worker with:
 - (i) A master's degree from a school of social work accredited by the Council on Social Work Education (New York, New York), and with specialized training in intellectual disabilities or with 1 year of experience in working with individuals with intellectual disabilities; or
 - (ii) A bachelor's degree from an undergraduate social work program accredited by the Council on Social Work Education who is currently working and continues to work under the supervision of a social worker as defined in subparagraph (D)(i) and who has specialized training in intellectual disabilities or 1 year of experience in working with individuals with intellectual disabilities;
 - (E) A rehabilitation counselor who is certified by the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification (Chicago, Illinois) and who has specialized training in intellectual disabilities or 1 year of experience in working with individuals with intellectual disabilities;
 - (F) A physical or occupational therapist with a bachelor's degree from an accredited program in physical or occupational therapy and who has specialized training or 1 year of experience in working with individuals with intellectual disabilities; or
 - (G) A therapeutic recreation specialist who is a graduate of an accredited program and who has specialized training or 1 year of experience in working with individuals with intellectual disabilities.
- (25) "Security" means any:

- (A) Note:
- (B) Stock;
- (C) Treasury stock;
- (D) Bond debenture;
- (E) Evidence of indebtedness;
- (F) Certificate of interest or participation in an oil, gas, or mining title or lease or in payments out of production under such a title or lease;
- (G) Collateral trust certificate;
- (H) Transferable share;
- (I) Voting trust certificate; or
- (J) Interest or instrument commonly known as a security, certificate of interest or participation, temporary or interim certificate, receipt, certificate of deposit for, or any warrant or right to subscribe to or purchase any of the foregoing.
- (25A) "Substituted judgment" means making a decision that conforms as closely as possible with the decision that the individual would have made, based upon the knowledge of the beliefs, values, and preferences of the individual.
- (26) "Visitor" means a person appointed in a guardianship or protective proceeding who is an officer, employee, or special appointee of the court and who has no personal interest in the proceeding.
- (27) "Ward" means an individual for whom a guardian has been appointed.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Mar. 24, 1998, D.C. Law 12-81, § 14(r), 45 DCR 745; Apr. 4, 2006, D.C. Law 16-79, § 7(a), 53 DCR 1035; Apr. 24, 2007, D.C. Law 16-305, § 35(c)(1), 53 DCR 6198; Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(b), 55 DCR 9206; Sept. 26, 2012, D.C. Law 19- 169, § 21(h)(2), 59 DCR 5567.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2011.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-79 added pars. (5A) and (5B).

D.C. Law 16-305, in par. (24), substituted "individuals with mental retardation" for "mentally retarded individuals".

D.C. Law 17-249 redesignated former par. (1) as par. (1A); added pars. (1), (5C), (11A), (25A); and rewrote par. (8), which had read as follows:

- "(8) 'Guardian' means a person who has qualified as a guardian of an incapacitated individual pursuant to court appointment and includes a limited guardian as described in section 21-2044(c), but excludes one who is merely a guardian ad litem."
- D.C. Law 19-169, in par. (7), substituted "developmental disability" for "mental retardation"; and, in par. (24), substituted "Qualified developmental disability" for "Qualified mental retardation" and "intellectual disabilities" for "mental retardation".

Temporary Amendments of Section

Section 2(a) of D.C. Law 12-249 added (5A) to read as follows:

For the purposes of this chapter, the term:

* * ***

"(5A) "Emergency care" means immediate treatment, including diagnostic treatment, provided in response to a sudden, acute, and unanticipated medical crisis in order to avoid injury, extreme pain, impairment, or death."

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 12-249 provided that this act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2 (a) of D.C. Law 13-88 added a definition of emergency care.

Section 5 (b) of D.C. Law 13-88 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(a) of D.C. Law 13-221 added par. (5A) which defined "emergency care".

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 13-221 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(a) of D.C. Law 14-64 added par. (5A) to read as follows:

"(5A) 'Emergency care' means immediate treatment, including diagnostic treatment, provided in response to

a sudden, acute, and unanticipated medical crisis in order to avoid injury, extreme pain, impairment, or death."

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 14-64 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(a) of D.C. Law 14-241 added par. (5A) to read as follows:

"(5A) 'Emergency care' means immediate treatment, including diagnostic treatment, provided in response to a sudden, acute, and unanticipated medical crisis in order to avoid injury, extreme pain, impairment, or death."

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 14-241 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(a) of D.C. Law 15-98 added par. (5A) to read as follows:

"(5A) 'Emergency care' means immediate treatment, including diagnostic treatment, provided in response to a sudden, acute, and unanticipated medical crisis in order to avoid injury, extreme pain, impairment, or death."

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 15-98 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(a) of D.C. Law 15-245 added par. (5A) to read as follows:

"(5A) 'Emergency care' means immediate treatment, including diagnostic treatment, provided in response to a sudden, acute, and unanticipated medical crisis in order to avoid injury, extreme pain, impairment, or death."

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 15-245 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(a) of D.C. Law 16-46 added par. (5A) to read as follows:

"(5A) 'Emergency care' means immediate treatment, including diagnostic treatment, provided in response to a sudden, acute, and unanticipated medical crisis in order to avoid injury, extreme pain, impairment, or death."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-46 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 redesignated par. (1) as par. (1A), added pars. (1), (5C), (11A), and (25A), and amended par. (8) to read as follows:

- "(1) 'Best interests' means promoting personal well-being by assessing:
- "(A) The reason for the proposed action, its risks and benefits, and any alternatives considered and rejected; and
- "(B) The least intrusive, least restrictive, and most normalizing course of action possible to provide for the needs of the individual."
- "(5C) 'Emergency care' means immediate treatment, including diagnostic treatment, provided in response to a sudden, acute, and unanticipated medical crisis in order to avoid injury, extreme pain, impairment, or death."
- "(8) 'Guardian' means a person other than a guardian ad litem who has qualified as a guardian of an incapacitated individual pursuant to court appointment, and includes:
- "(A) A limited guardian whose powers are limited by the court as described in section 21-2044(c);
- "(B) A temporary guardian appointed as described in section 21-2046 for a finite period of time to serve as:
- "(i) An emergency guardian whose authority may not extend beyond 15 days and who may exercise any powers granted by court order and not prohibited by law;
- "(ii) A health-care guardian whose authority is granted for up to 90 days and may be extended for up to an additional 90 days to provide substituted consent in accordance with section 21-2210 for an individual certified as incapacitated for a health-care decision; or
- "(iii) A provisional guardian whose authority is granted for a specified period not to exceed 6 months, upon the court's finding that any guardian is not effectively performing duties and that the welfare of the incapacitated individual requires immediate action; and
- "(C) A general guardian not limited by the court in scope as described in section 21-2044(c) or in time as described in section 21-2046."
- "(11A) 'Incapacitated individual for health-care decisions' means an adult individual who lacks sufficient mental capacity to:
- "(A) Appreciate the nature and implications of a health-care decision;
- "(B) Make a choice regarding the alternatives presented; or
- "(C) Communicate that choice in an unambiguous manner."
- "(25A) 'Substituted judgment' means making a decision that conforms as closely as possible with the decision that the individual would have made, based upon knowledge of the beliefs, values, and preferences of the

individual.".

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 redesignated par. (1) as par. (1A), and amended par. (8) and added pars. (1), (5C), (11A), and (25A) to read as follows:

- "(1) 'Best interests' means promoting personal well-being by assessing:
- "(A) The reason for the proposed action, its risks and benefits, and any alternatives considered and rejected; and
- "(B) The least intrusive, least restrictive, and most normalizing course of action possible to provide for the needs of the individual."
- "(5C) 'Emergency care' means immediate treatment, including diagnostic treatment, provided in response to a sudden, acute, and unanticipated medical crisis in order to avoid injury, extreme pain, impairment, or death."
- "(8) 'Guardian' means a person who has qualified as a guardian of an incapacitated individual pursuant to court appointment, not including a guardian ad litem, but including:
- "(A) A limited guardian whose powers are limited by the court as described in section 21-2044(c);
- "(B) A temporary guardian appointed as described in section 21-2046 for a finite period of time to serve as:
- "(i) An emergency guardian whose authority may not extend beyond 15 days and who may exercise any powers granted by court order and not prohibited by law:
- "(ii) A health-care guardian whose authority is granted for up to 90 days and may be extended for up to an additional 90 days to provide substituted consent in accordance with section 21-2210 for an individual certified as incapacitated for a health-care decision; or
- "(iii) A provisional guardian whose authority is granted for a specified period not to exceed 6 months, upon the court's finding that any guardian is not effectively performing duties and that the welfare of the incapacitated individual requires immediate action; and
- "(C) A general guardian not limited by the court in scope as described in section 21-2044(c) or in time as described in section 21-2046."
- "(11A) 'Incapacitated individual for health-care decisions' means an adult individual who lacks sufficient mental capacity to:
- "(A) Appreciate the nature and implications of a health-care decision;
- "(B) Make a choice regarding the alternatives presented; or
- "(C) Communicate that choice in an unambiguous manner."
- "(25A) 'Substituted judgment' means making a decision that conforms as closely as possible with the decision that the individual would have made, based upon the knowledge of the beliefs, values, and preferences of the individual."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary amendment of section, see § 2(a) of the Mentally Retarded Citizens Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 1998 (D.C. Act 12-554, December 30, 1998, 45 DCR 566).

For temporary amendment of section, see § 2(a) of the Mentally Retarded Citizens Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 1999 (D.C. Act 13-56, April 16, 1999, 46 DCR 4289).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of the Mentally Retarded Citizens Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 1999 (D.C. Act 13-56, April 16, 1999, 46 DCR 3858).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of the Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 1999 (D.C. Act 13-202, December 1, 1999, 47 DCR 134).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of the Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-285, March 7, 2000, 47 DCR 2033).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of the Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-455, November 7, 2000, 47 DCR 9415).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted

Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2001 (D.C. Act 14-3, February 13, 2001, 48 DCR 2251).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2 of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 2001 (D.C. Act 14-143, October 23, 2001, 48 DCR 9944).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2002 (D.C. Act 14-246, January 28, 2002, 49 DCR 1040).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 2002 (D.C. Act 14-514, October 23, 2002, 49 DCR 10480).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Second Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2002 (D.C. Act 14-602, January 7, 2003, 50 DCR 684).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 2003 (D.C. Act 15-234, November 25, 2003, 50 DCR 10734).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2004 (D.C. Act 15-359, February 19, 2004, 51 DCR 2578).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 2004 (D.C. Act 15-558, October 26, 2004, 51 DCR 10375).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-6, January 19, 2005, 52 DCR 2683).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-190, October 28, 2005, 52 DCR 10021).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(a) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Mental Retardation and Development Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-262, January 26, 2006, 53 DCR 795).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) amendment, see § 2(b) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Law 12-81, the "Technical Amendments Act of 1998," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 12-408, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 4, 1997, and December 4, 1997, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 22, 1997, it was assigned Act No. 12-246 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 12-81 became effective on March 24, 1998.

Law 12-249, the "Mentally Retarded Citizens Substitute Consent for Health Care Decisions and Emergency Care Definition Temporary Amendment Act of 1998," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 12-757. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 1, 1998, and December 15, 1998, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 24, 1998, it was assigned Act No. 12-588 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 12- 249 became effective on April 20, 1999.

Law 13-221, the "Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Temporary Act of 2000", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 13-856. The Bill was adopted on first and

second readings on October 3, 2000, and November 8, 2000, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 29, 2000, it was assigned Act No. 13-480 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 13-221 became effective on April 3, 2001.

Law 14-64, the "Citizens With Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Temporary Amendment Act of 2001", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 14-357, which was retained by Council. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on October 2, 2001, and November 6, 2001, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 19, 2001, it was assigned Act No. 14-169 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 14-64 became effective on February 27, 2002.

Law 14-241, the "Citizens with Mental Health Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care decisions Temporary Amendment Act of 2002", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 14-871, and was retained by Council. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on October 1, 2002, and November 7, 2002, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 26, 2002, it was assigned Act No. 14-522 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 14-241 became effective on March 25, 2003.

Law 15-98, the "Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Temporary Amendment Act of 2003", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 15-557, and was retained by Council. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 4, 2003, and December 2, 2003, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 18, 2003, it was assigned Act No. 15-268 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 15-98 became effective on March 10, 2004.

Law 15-245, the "Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Temporary Amendment Act of 2004", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 15-1051, and was retained by Council. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on October 5, 2004, and November 9, 2004, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 30, 2004, it was assigned Act No. 15-602 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 15-245 became effective on March 17, 2005.

Law 16-79, the "Domestic Partnership Equality Amendment Act of 2006", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 16-52 which was referred to the Committee on Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 6, 2005, and January 4, 2006, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 26, 2006, it was assigned Act No. 16-265 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 16-79 became effective on April 4, 2006.

For Law 16-305, see notes following § 21-501.

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

For history of Law 19-169, see notes under § 21-501.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1-201 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

SUBCHAPTER III. SCOPE.

§ 21-2021. TERRITORIAL APPLICATION.

Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, this chapter applies to:

- (1) Affairs and estates of a disappeared individual who is domiciled in the District and an individual to be protected who is domiciled in the District;
- (2) Property located in the District of a non-domiciliary who is a disappeared individual or an individual to be protected;
- (3) Property coming into the control of a guardian or conservator who is subject to the laws of the District; and
- (4) An incapacitated individual in the District.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, \S 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2021.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1-301 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act).

§ 21-2022. PRACTICE IN COURT.

Unless specifically provided to the contrary in this chapter or inconsistent with its provisions, the rules of the court, including the rules concerning vacation of orders and appellate review, govern proceedings under this chapter.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2022.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1-304 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2023. JURY TRIAL. [REPEALED]

(Sept. 22, 1989, D.C. Law 8-34, § 2(d), 36 DCR 5035.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2023.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-34, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2002.

§ 21-2024. APPEALS.

Appellate review, including the right to appellate review, interlocutory appeal, provisions as to time, manner, notice, appeal bond, stays, scope of review, record on appeal, briefs, arguments, and power of the appellate court, is governed by the rules applicable to the appeals to the District of Columbia Court of Appeals.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2024.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1-307 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

SUBCHAPTER IV. NOTICE, PARTIES, AND REPRESENTATION IN GUARDIANSHIP AND PROTECTIVE PROCEEDINGS.

§ 21-2031. NOTICE; METHOD, CONTENTS, AND TIME OF GIVING.

(a) If notice of a hearing on any petition is required, other than a notice meeting specific notice

requirements otherwise provided, the petitioner shall cause notice of the time and place of hearing of any petition to be given to the person to be notified or to the attorney, if the person has appeared by attorney or requested that notice be sent to an attorney.

- (b) Notice must be given:
 - (1) By mailing a copy of the notice at least 17 days before the time set for the hearing by certified or ordinary first-class mail, addressed to the person being notified, using the post office address given in the request for notice, if any, or to the person's office or place of residence, if known;
 - (2) By personally delivering a copy to the person being notified at least 14 days before the time set for the hearing; or
 - (3) In the case of an individual who has disappeared, has been detained by a foreign power, or is being held by someone other than a foreign power, by publishing, at least once a week for 3 consecutive weeks, a copy of the notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the District, the first publication of which is at least 40 days before the date set for the hearing.
- (c) The court, for good cause shown, may provide for a different method or time of giving notice for any hearing.
- (d) Proof of the giving of notice must be made by affidavit not later than the date of the hearing specified in the proceeding.
- (e) The contents of the notice required in any proceeding under this chapter shall be as prescribed by court rule. Each notice shall explain the purposes, procedure, and significance of the pleading or hearing that the notice concerns, as well as the rights to which the parties are entitled.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Sept. 22, 1989, D.C. Law 8-34, § 2(e), 36 DCR 5035.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2031.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-34, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2002.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1-401 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2032. NOTICE; WAIVER.

A person, including a guardian, guardian ad litem, conservator, or other fiduciary, may waive notice by a signed writing. An individual for whom a guardianship or other protective order is sought, a ward, or a protected individual may not waive notice.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2032.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1-402 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2033. GUARDIAN AD LITEM; COUNSEL; VISITOR.

(a) At any point in a proceeding, a court may appoint a guardian ad litem to prosecute or defend the interest of individuals in any legal proceeding if the court determines that representation of the interest otherwise would be inadequate. If not precluded by a conflict of interest, a guardian ad litem may be appointed to represent several individuals or interests. In addition, a guardian ad litem may be appointed by the court to assist the subject of an intervention proceeding to determine his or her interests in regard to

the guardianship or protective proceeding or to make that determination if the subject of the proceeding is unconscious or otherwise wholly incapable of determining his or her interests in that proceeding even with assistance. In either case the guardian ad litem shall not serve as an independent finder of fact, investigator, ombudsman, or other neutral party in the proceeding. The court, as a part of the record of the proceeding, shall set out its reasons for appointing a guardian ad litem and his or her specific duties.

- (b) The duty of counsel for the subject of a guardianship or protective proceeding is to represent zealously that individual's legitimate interests. At a minimum, this shall include:
 - (1) Personal interviews with the subject of the intervention proceeding;
 - (2) Explaining to the subject of the intervention proceeding, in the language, mode of communication, and terms that the individual is most likely to understand, the nature and possible consequences of the proceeding, the alternatives that are available, and the rights to which the individual is entitled; and
 - (3) Securing and presenting evidence and testimony and offering arguments to protect the rights of the subject of the guardianship or protective proceeding and further that individual's interests.
- (c) Visitors appointed by the court in guardianship or protective proceedings shall interview the subject of the proceeding, the person who has filed the petition initiating the proceeding, and any person nominated to serve as guardian or conservator. The visitor shall also visit the present place of abode of the subject of the proceeding and the place it is proposed that the individual will be detained or reside if the appointment is made. The visitor shall submit a written report to the court. If a person has been nominated for appointment as a guardian or conservator, the visitor shall investigate whether a conflict or potential conflict of interest should preclude the appointment. If no person is nominated, the visitor shall make a nomination in his or her report to the court.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2033.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1-403 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2034. REQUEST FOR NOTICE; INTERESTED PERSON.

Upon payment of any required fee, an interested person who desires to be notified before any order is made in any proceeding under this chapter may file a request for notice with the clerk of the court in which the proceeding is pending. The clerk shall mail a copy of the request to the guardian and to the conservator if either has been appointed. A request is not effective unless it contains a statement showing the interest of the person making it and the address of that person or an attorney to whom notice is to be given. The request is effective only as to proceedings occurring after the filing. Any governmental agency paying or planning to pay benefits to the individual to be protected is an interested person in protective proceedings.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2034.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1-404 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

SUBCHAPTER V. GUARDIANS OF INCAPACITATED INDIVIDUALS.

§ 21-2041. PROCEDURE FOR COURT-APPOINTMENT OF A GUARDIAN OF AN INCAPACITATED INDIVIDUAL.

- (a) An incapacitated individual or any person interested in the welfare of the incapacitated individual may petition for appointment of a guardian, either limited, temporary, or general.
- (b) The petition shall state the name, address, and interest of the petitioner, state the name, age, residence, and address of the individual for whom a guardian is sought, and set forth the reasons for which the guardianship is sought with specific particularity so as to enable the court to determine what class of examiner and visitor should examine the person alleged to be incapacitated.
- (c) The petition shall be served upon the subject of the petition, by first class mail, within 3 days of its filing. Proof of service is to be by certificate of service.
- (d) After the filing of a petition, the court shall set a date for hearing on the issue of incapacity so that notice may be given as required by section 21-2042 and, unless the allegedly incapacitated individual is represented by counsel, the court shall appoint an attorney to represent the individual in the proceeding. The court shall appoint an appropriately qualified examiner who shall submit a report in writing to the court. The individual alleged to be incapacitated also shall be interviewed by a visitor appointed by the court. The examiner and the visitor shall be separate persons. The court may waive the appointment of a visitor and, where a report has been submitted in writing to the court for the allegedly incapacitated individual, the court may waive the appointment of an examiner. The court shall waive, absent good cause shown, the appointments of a visitor and examiner if the petition seeks appointment of an emergency guardian or a health-care guardian and the petition is supported by the certification of incapacity made pursuant to section 21-2204.
- (e) The court may utilize the services of additional visitors to evaluate the condition of the allegedly incapacitated individual and to make appropriate recommendations to the court.
- (f) In the case of an individual whose incapacity is alleged to arise out of an intellectual disability, preference is for the appointment of an examiner and visitor who are qualified development disability professionals and who can collectively give a complete social, psychological, and medical evaluation of the individual. The court may waive the appointment of a visitor and, where a current individual habilitation plan prepared pursuant to section 7-1304.03 is submitted to the court, the court may waive the appointment of an examiner.
- (g) For any individual alleged to be incapacitated, any current social, psychological, medical, or other evaluation used for diagnostic purposes or in the development of a current plan of treatment or any current plan of treatment shall be presented as evidence to the court. For an individual alleged to be incapacitated for health-care decisions, the certification of incapacity made pursuant to section 21-2204 shall be presented as evidence to the court.
- (h) An individual alleged to be incapacitated shall be present at the hearing unless good cause is shown for the absence. The individual shall be represented by counsel and is entitled to present evidence and to cross-examine witnesses, including any court-appointed examiner or visitor. The hearing may be closed if the individual alleged to be incapacitated or counsel for the individual so requests.
- (i) Any person may apply for permission to participate in the proceeding, and the court may grant the request, with or without hearing, upon determining that the best interest of the alleged incapacitated individual will be served. The court may attach appropriate conditions to the permission.

 $(\text{Feb. }28, 1987, \text{D.C. } \text{Law }6\text{-}204, \S\ 2(a), 34\ \text{DCR }632; \text{Sept. }22, 1989, \text{D.C. } \text{Law }8\text{-}34, \S\ 2(f)\text{-}(g), 36\ \text{DCR }5035; \text{Apr. }24, 2007, \text{D.C. } \text{Law }16\text{-}305, \S\ 35(c)(2), 53\ \text{DCR }6198; \text{Oct. }22, 2008, \text{D.C. } \text{Law }17\text{-}249, \S\ 2(c), 55\ \text{DCR }9206; \text{Sept. }26, 2012, \text{D.C. } \text{Law }19\text{-}169, \S\ 21(h)(3), 59\ \text{DCR }5567.)$

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2041.

Effect of Amendments

- D.C. Law 16-305, in subsec. (f), substituted "individual alleged to have mental retardation" for "alleged mentally retarded individual".
- D.C. Law 17-249, in subsec. (a), inserted ", temporary," following "limited"; and rewrote subsecs. (d), (f), and (g), which had read as follows:
- "(d) After the filing of a petition, the court shall set a date for hearing on the issue of incapacity so that notice may be given as required by section 21- 2042 and, unless the allegedly incapacitated individual is represented by counsel, the court shall appoint an attorney to represent the individual in the proceeding. The court shall appoint an appropriately qualified examiner who shall submit a report in writing to the court. The individual alleged to be incapacitated also shall be interviewed by a visitor appointed by the court. The examiner and the visitor shall be separate persons. The court may waive the appointment of a visitor and,

where a report has been submitted in writing to the court for the allegedly incapacitated individual, the court may waive the appointment of an examiner.

- "(f) In the case of an individual whose incapacity is alleged to arise out of mental retardation, preference is for the appointment of an examiner and visitor who are qualified mental retardation professionals and who can collectively give a complete social, psychological, and medical evaluation of the individual. When the individual alleged to have mental retardation has a current comprehensive evaluation or habilitation plan, the plan shall be presented as evidence to the court. When a plan exists but has not been updated within 6 months prior to the hearing, preference is for an update of the plan as part of the examination conducted by the examiner and visitor."
- "(g) For any other individual alleged to be incapacitated, any current social, psychological, medical, or other evaluation used for diagnostic purposes or in the development of a current plan of treatment or any current plan of treatment shall be presented as evidence to the court."
- D.C. Law 19-169, in subsec. (f), substituted "of an intellectual disability" for "of mental retardation" and "qualified developmental disability professional" for "qualified mental retardation professional".

Temporary Amendments of Section

Section 2(c) of D.C. Law 16-194, in subsec. (a), substituted "limited, temporary," for "limited"; in subsec. (d) added the following sentence at the end: "The court shall waive the appointments of a visitor and examiner if the petition seeks appointment of an emergency guardian or a health-care guardian and the petition is supported by the certification of incapacity made pursuant to section 21-2204."; in subsec. (f) struck the second and third sentences and inserted the following sentence in their place: "The court may waive the appointment of a visitor and, where a current individual habilitation plan prepared pursuant to section 7-1304.03 is submitted to the court, the court may waive the appointment of an examiner."; and in subsec. (g), substituted "individual" for "other individual", and added the following sentence at the end: "For an individual alleged to be incapacitated for health-care decisions, the certification of incapacity made pursuant to section 21-2204 shall be presented as evidence to the court."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(c) of D.C. Law 17-100, in subsec. (a), substituted "limited, temporary," for "limited"; in subsec. (d), added the sentence "The court shall waive the appointments of a visitor and examiner if the petition seeks appointment of an emergency guardian or a health-care guardian and the petition is supported by the certification of incapacity made pursuant to section 21- 2204." at the end; in subsec. (f), substituted "The court may waive the appointment of a visitor and, where a current individual habilitation plan prepared pursuant to section 7-1304.03 is submitted to the court, the court may waive the appointment of an examiner." for the second and third sentences; and in subsec. (g), substituted "individual" for "other individual" and added the sentence "For an individual alleged to be incapacitated for health-care decisions, the certification of incapacity made pursuant to section 21-2204 shall be presented as evidence to the court." at the end.

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(c) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(c) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(c) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(c) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) amendment, see § 2(c) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-34, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2002.

For Law 16-305, see notes following § 21-501.

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

For history of Law 19-169, see notes under § 21-501.

This section is based upon § 2-203 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2042. NOTICE; GUARDIANSHIP PROCEEDING.

- (a) In a proceeding for the appointment of a guardian of an incapacitated individual, notice of a hearing shall be given to each of the following:
 - (1) The individual alleged to be incapacitated and his or her spouse or, if none, adult children, or, if none, parents;
 - (2) Any person who is serving as guardian or conservator, or who has the care and custody of the individual alleged to be incapacitated;
 - (3) In case no other individual is notified under paragraph (1) of this subsection, at least 1 of the nearest adult relatives, if any can be found; and
 - (4) Any other person as directed by the court.
- (b) Notice of a hearing on a petition for an order subsequent to appointment of a guardian shall be given to the ward, the guardian, and any other person ordered by the court.
- (c) Notice shall be served personally on the alleged incapacitated individual. Notice to other individuals as required by subsection (a) of this section shall be served personally if the individual to be notified can be found within the District. In all other cases, required notices shall be given as provided in section 21-2031.
- (d) The individual alleged to be incapacitated may not waive notice.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Mar. 24, 1998, D.C. Law 12-81, § 14(s), 45 DCR 745.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2042.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-81, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2011.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-204 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2043. WHO MAY BE GUARDIAN; PRIORITIES.

- (a) Any qualified person may be appointed guardian of an incapacitated individual.
- (a-1)(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2) of this subsection, a person will be deemed by the court to have a conflict of interest and may not be appointed as a guardian if the person:
 - (A) Provides substantial services other than serving as guardian to the incapacitated individual in a professional or business capacity:
 - (B) Is a creditor of the incapacitated individual; or
 - (C) Is employed by any person or entity that provides services other than serving as guardian to the incapacitated individual in a professional or business capacity.
 - (2) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (1) of this subsection, a person may be appointed as a guardian if:
 - (A) The person is the incapacitated individual's spouse, domestic partner, adult child, parent, adult sibling, or relative with whom the incapacitated individual has resided for more than 6 months prior to the filing of the petition; and
 - (B) The court determines that the potential conflict of interest is insubstantial and that the appointment would clearly be in the best interests of the incapacitated individual; provided, that the court may not appoint a guardian in any other circumstance in which a conflict of interest may occur.
- (b) Unless lack of qualification or other good cause dictates the contrary, the court shall appoint a guardian in accordance with the incapacitated individual's current stated wishes or his or her most recent nomination in a durable power of attorney.
- (c) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, the following persons are entitled to consideration

for appointment in the order listed:

- (1) The spouse or domestic partner of the incapacitated individual or a person nominated by will of a deceased spouse or domestic partner or by another writing signed by the spouse or domestic partner and attested by at least 2 witnesses;
- (2) An adult child of the incapacitated individual or a person nominated by will of a deceased adult child or by other writing signed by the child and attested by at least 2 witnesses;
- (3) A parent of the incapacitated individual or a person nominated by will of a deceased parent or by other writing signed by a parent and attested by at least 2 witnesses;
- (3A) An adult sibling of the incapacitated individual or a person nominated by will of a deceased sibling or by other writing signed by an adult sibling and attested by at least 2 witnesses;
- (4) Any relative of the incapacitated individual with whom he or she has resided for more than 6 months prior to the filing of the petition; and
- (5) Any other person.
- (d) With respect to persons having equal priority, the court shall select the person it deems best qualified to serve. The court, acting in the best interest of the incapacitated individual, may pass over a person having priority and appoint a person having a lower priority or no priority.
- (e) A guardian shall limit his or her caseload to a size that allows the guardian:
 - (1) To accurately and adequately support and protect each ward;
 - (2) To maintain regular and reasonable contact with each ward, including a minimum of one visit per month, unless otherwise specified by the court based on the expressed preferences of the ward or the ward's best interests; and
 - (3) To have regular contact with service providers.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Apr. 4, 2006, D.C. Law 16-79, § 7(b), 53 DCR 1035; Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(d), 55 DCR 9206.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2043.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-79, in subsec. (c)(1), substituted "spouse or domestic partner" for "spouse".

D.C. Law 17-249 added subsecs. (a-1), (c)(3A), and (e).

Temporary Amendments of Section

Section 2(d) of D.C. Law 16-194 added par. (3A) to subsec. (c) and added subsecs. (a-1) and (e) to read as follows:

- "(a-1)(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2) of this subsection, a person may not be appointed as a guardian if the person:
- "(A) Provides substantial services to the incapacitated individual in a professional or business capacity;
- "(B) Is a creditor of the incapacitated individual; or
- "(C) is employed by any person or entity that provides services to the incapacitated individual in a professional or business capacity.
- "(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a-1) of this section, a person may be appointed as a guardian if the person is the incapacitated individual's spouse, domestic partner, adult child, parent, adult sibling, or relative with whom the incapacitated individual has resided for more than 6 months prior to the filing of the petition and the court determines that the potential conflict of interest is insubstantial and that the appointment would clearly be in the best interests of the incapacitated individual. The court may not appoint a guardian in any other circumstance in which a conflict of interest may occur."
- "(3A) An adult sibling of the incapacitated individual or a person nominated by will of a deceased sibling or by other writing signed by an adult sibling and attested by at least 2 witnesses;"
- "(e) A guardian shall limit his or her caseload to a size that allows the guardian:
- "(1) To accurately and adequately support and protect each ward;
- "(2) To make a minimum of one visit per month with each ward; and
- "(3) To have regular contact with service providers.".

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(d) of D.C. Law 17-100 added subsecs. (a-1), (c)(3A), and (e) to read as follows:

- "(a-1)(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2) of this subsection, a person may not be appointed as a guardian if the person:
- "(A) Provides substantial services to the incapacitated individual in a professional or business capacity;
- "(B) Is a creditor of the incapacitated individual; or
- "(C) is employed by any person or entity that provides services to the incapacitated individual in a professional or business capacity.
- "(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (1) of this subsection, a person may be appointed as a quardian if:
- "(A) The person is the incapacitated individual's spouse, domestic partner, adult child, parent, adult sibling, or relative with whom the incapacitated individual has resided for more than 6 months prior to the filing of the petition; and
- "(B) The court determines that the potential conflict of interest is insubstantial and that the appointment would clearly be in the best interests of the incapacitated individual. The court may not appoint a guardian in any other circumstance in which a conflict of interest may occur."
- "(3A) An adult sibling of the incapacitated individual or a person nominated by will of a deceased sibling or by other writing signed by an adult sibling and attested by at least 2 witnesses;"
- "(e) A guardian shall limit his or her caseload to a size that allows the guardian:
- "(1) To accurately and adequately support and protect each ward;
- "(2) To make a minimum of one visit per month with each ward; and
- "(3) To have regular contact with service providers."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(d) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(d) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(d) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(d) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) amendment, see § 2(d) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For Law 16-79, see notes following § 21-2011.

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-205 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2044. FINDINGS; ORDER OF APPOINTMENT.

- (a) The court shall exercise the authority conferred in this subchapter so as to encourage the development of maximum self-reliance and independence of the incapacitated individual. The court, on appropriate findings, may appoint a limited guardian, a temporary guardian, or a general guardian. When the court appoints a guardian, it shall appoint the type of guardianship that is least restrictive to the incapacitated individual in duration and scope, taking into account the incapacitated individual's current mental and adaptive limitations or other conditions warranting the appointment.
- (b) The court may appoint a guardian as requested if it is satisfied that the individual for whom a guardian is sought is incapacitated and that the appointment is necessary as a means of providing continuing care

and supervision of the person of the incapacitated individual. The court, on appropriate findings, may:

- (1) Treat the petition as a petition for a protective order under section 21-2051 and proceed accordingly;
- (2) Enter any other appropriate order; or
- (3) Dismiss the proceedings.
- (c) The court, at the time of appointment, later on its own motion, or on appropriate petition or motion of the incapacitated individual or other interested person, may limit the powers of a guardian otherwise conferred by this chapter and create a limited guardianship. Any limitation on the statutory power of a guardian of an incapacitated individual shall be endorsed on the guardian's letters. Following the same procedure, a limitation may be removed or modified and appropriate letters issued.
- (d) While a petition for appointment of a guardian is pending, after a preliminary hearing, and without notice to others, the court may preserve and apply the property of the individual to be protected as may be required for support of the individual or dependents of the individual.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(e), 55 DCR 9206.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2044.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 17-249 rewrote subsec. (a), which had read as follows:

"(a) The court shall exercise the authority conferred in this subchapter so as to encourage the development of maximum self-reliance and independence of the incapacitated individual and make appointive and other orders only to the extent necessitated by the incapacitated individual's mental and adaptive limitations or other conditions warranting the procedure."

Temporary Amendments of Section

Section 2(e) of D.C. Law 16-194 amended (a) to read as follows:

"(a) The court shall exercise the authority conferred in this subchapter so as to encourage the development of maximum self-reliance and independence of the incapacitated individual. The court, on appropriate findings, may appoint a limited guardian, a temporary guardian, or a general guardian. When the court appoints a guardian, it shall appoint the type of guardianship which is least restrictive to the incapacitated individual in duration and scope, taking into account the incapacitated individual's current mental and adaptive limitations or other conditions warranting the procedure."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(e) of D.C. Law 17-100 amended subsec. (a) to read as follows:

"(a) The court shall exercise the authority conferred in this subchapter so as to encourage the development of maximum self-reliance and independence of the incapacitated individual. The court, on appropriate findings, may appoint a limited guardian, a temporary guardian, or a general guardian. When the court appoints a guardian, it shall appoint the type of guardianship that is least restrictive to the incapacitated individual in duration and scope, taking into account the incapacitated individual's current mental and adaptive limitations or other warranted conditions."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(e) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(e) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(e) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(e) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) amendment, see § 2(e) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-206 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2045. ACCEPTANCE OF APPOINTMENT; CONSENT OF JURISDICTION.

By accepting appointment, a guardian submits personally to the jurisdiction of the court in any proceeding relating to the guardianship that may be instituted by any interested person. Notice of any proceeding shall be delivered or mailed to the guardian at the address listed in the court records and at the address as then known to the petitioner, except where the guardian resides in a foreign jurisdiction in which case notice shall be made to the court.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2045.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-207 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2046. TEMPORARY GUARDIANS.

- (a) Temporary guardians are guardians appointed for a finite period of time. Temporary guardians include emergency guardians, health-care guardians, and provisional guardians. All provisions of this chapter apply to temporary guardians unless otherwise specified.
- (b)(1) The court, on appropriate petition, may appoint an emergency guardian, whose authority may not extend beyond 21 days, if:
 - (A) An incapacitated individual has no guardian;
 - (B) A life-threatening situation or situation involving emergency care exists; and
 - (C) There is no other person with authority to act who is reasonably available, mentally capable, and willing to act.
 - (2) An emergency guardian appointed pursuant to this subsection may exercise those powers granted in the order.
 - (3) Immediately upon receipt of the petition, the court shall appoint counsel for the individual alleged to be incapacitated and provide notice to the individual alleged to be incapacitated and to interested persons, pursuant to section 21-2042.
 - (4) The individual alleged to be incapacitated, counsel for that individual, or any other interested person may request a hearing at any time within the period of the emergency guardianship. The hearing shall be held no later than 48 hours after the request.
 - (5) The court may extend the authority of an emergency guardian appointed pursuant to this subsection to authorize the emergency guardian to serve as a health-care guardian consistent with subsection (c) of this section.
- (c)(1) The court, on appropriate petition, may appoint a health-care guardian for the individual alleged to be incapacitated for a specified period of time of up to 90 days if:
 - (A) An individual has been determined to be incapacitated under section 21-2204;
 - (B) The individual has no guardian; and
 - (C) There is no other person with authority to act who is reasonably available, mentally capable, and willing to act.
 - (2) The health-care guardian shall have the powers and duties set forth at section 21-2047.02(b).

- (3) An appropriate petition shall include the certification of incapacity made pursuant to section 21-2204. Immediately upon receipt of the petition, counsel shall be appointed for the individual alleged to be incapacitated, and notice provided to the individual alleged to be incapacitated and to interested persons, pursuant to section 21-2042. The hearing shall be held within 7 days of receipt of the petition.
- (4) The court may extend the authority of a health-care guardian for one additional period of up to 90 days:
 - (A) Upon determination of continued incapacity and determination of a continued need for the provision of substituted consent for any health-care service, treatment, or procedure pursuant to section 21-2210; or
 - (B) If a petition for a permanent limited guardian or general guardian, pursuant to section 21-2041, has been filed with the court prior to the expiration of the appointment of the temporary guardian.
- (d) If the court finds that any appointed guardian is not effectively performing duties and that the welfare of the ward requires immediate action, it may appoint a provisional guardian, with notice to interested parties within 14 days after the appointment. The provisional guardian shall have the powers set forth in the previous order of appointment for a specified period not to exceed 6 months. The authority of any permanent guardian previously appointed by the court is suspended as long as a provisional guardian has authority.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(f), 55 DCR 9206.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2046.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 17-249 rewrote the section, which had read as follows:

- "(a) If an incapacitated individual has no guardian, a life threatening emergency exists, and no other person appears to have authority to act within the circumstances, the court, on appropriate petition, may appoint a temporary guardian whose authority may not extend beyond 15 days and who may exercise those powers granted in the order. Immediately upon receipt of the petition, counsel shall be appointed for the individual alleged to be incapacitated and notice provided to the individual alleged to be incapacitated and to interested persons, pursuant to section 21-2042. The individual alleged to be incapacitated, counsel for that individual, or any other interested person may request a hearing at any time within the period of the temporary guardianship. The hearing shall be held no later than 48 hours after the request.
- "(b) If the court finds that an appointed guardian is not effectively performing duties and that the welfare of the incapacitated individual requires immediate action, it may appoint, with notice to interested parties within 14 days after the appointment, a temporary guardian for the incapacitated individual. This temporary guardian shall have the powers set forth in the previous order of appointment for a specified period not to exceed 6 months. The authority of any permanent guardian previously appointed by the court is suspended as long as a temporary guardian has authority.
- "(c) The court may remove a temporary guardian at any time. A temporary guardian shall make any report the court requires. In other respects, the provisions of this chapter concerning guardians apply to temporary guardians."

Temporary Amendments of Section

Section 2(b) of D.C. Law 12-249 amended the first sentence of (a) to read as follows:

"If an incapacitated individual has no guardian, a life threatening situation or a situation involving emergency care exists, and no other person appears to have authority to act within the circumstances, the court, on appropriate petition, may appoint a temporary guardian whose authority may not extend beyond 15 days and who may exercise those powers granted in the order."

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 12-249 provided that this act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2 (b) of D.C. Law 13-88 in subsec. (a) substituted for "life threatening emergency" the phrase "life threatening situation or a situation involving emergency care".

Section 5 (b) of D.C. Law 13-88 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(b) of D.C. Law 14-64, in subsec. (a), substituted "life-threatening situation or a situation involving emergency care" for "life threatening emergency".

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 14-64 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(b) of D.C. Law 14-241 amended the section by substituting "life-threatening situation or a situation involving emergency care" for "life threatening emergency".

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 14-241 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(b) of D.C. Law 15-98, in subsec. (a), substituted "life-threatening situation or a situation involving emergency care" for "life threatening emergency".

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 15-98 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(b) of D.C. Law 15-245, in subsec. (a), substituted "life-threatening situation or a situation involving emergency care" for "life threatening emergency".

Section 5(b) of D.C. Law 15-245 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(b) of D.C. Law 16-46, in subsec. (a), substituted "life-threatening situation or a situation involving emergency care" for "life threatening emergency".

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-46 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(f) of D.C. Law 16-194 amended this section to read as follows:

- "§ 21-2046. Temporary guardians.
- "(a) Temporary guardians are guardians appointed for a finite period of time. Temporary guardians include emergency guardians, health-care guardians, and provisional guardians. All provisions of this chapter apply to temporary guardians unless otherwise specified.
- "(b)(1) The court, on appropriate petition, may appoint an emergency guardian, whose authority may not extend beyond 15 days, if:
- "(A) An incapacitated individual has no guardian;
- "(B) A life-threatening situation or situation involving emergency care exists; and
- "(C) No other person appears to have authority to act within the circumstances.
- "(2) An emergency guardian appointed pursuant to this subsection may exercise those powers granted in the order
- "(3) Immediately upon receipt of the petition, the court shall appoint counsel for the individual alleged to be incapacitated and provide notice to the individual alleged to be incapacitated and to interested persons, pursuant to section 21-2042.
- "(4) The individual alleged to be incapacitated, counsel for that individual, or any other interested person may request a hearing at any time within the period of the temporary guardianship. The hearing shall be held no later than 48 hours after the request.
- "(5) The court may extend the authority of an emergency guardian appointed pursuant to this subsection to authorize the emergency guardian to serve as a health-care guardian consistent with subsection (c) of this section.
- "(c)(1) The court, on appropriate petition, may appoint a health-care guardian for the individual alleged to be incapacitated for a specified period of time of up to 90 days if:
- "(A) An individual has been determined to be incapacitated under section 21-2204;
- "(B) The individual has no guardian; and
- "(C) No other person appears to have authority to act within the circumstances.
- "(2) The health-care guardian shall have the powers and duties set forth at section 21-2047b(b).
- "(3) An appropriate petition shall include the certification of incapacity made pursuant to section 21-2204. Immediately upon receipt of the petition, counsel shall be appointed for the individual alleged to be incapacitated, and notice provided to the individual alleged to be incapacitated and to interested persons, pursuant to section 21-2042. The hearing shall be held within 7 days of receipt of the petition.
- "(4) The court may extend the authority of a health-care guardian for one additional period of up to 90 days:
- "(A) Upon determination of continued incapacity and determination of a continued need for the provision of substituted consent for any health-care service, treatment, or procedure pursuant to section 21-2210; or
- "(B) If a petition for a permanent limited guardian or general guardian, pursuant to section 21-2041, has been filed with the court prior to the expiration of the appointment of the temporary guardian.
- "(d) If the court finds that any appointed guardian is not effectively performing duties and that the welfare of the ward requires immediate action, it may appoint, with notice to interested parties within 14 day after the appointment, a provisional guardian. The provisional guardian shall have the powers set forth in the previous order of appointment for a specified period not to exceed 6 months. The authority of any permanent guardian previously appointed by the court is suspended as long as a provisional guardian has authority."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(f) of D.C. Law 17-100 amended this section to read as follows:

- "§ 21-2046. Temporary guardians.
- "(a) Temporary guardians are guardians appointed for a finite period of time. Temporary guardians include

emergency guardians, health-care guardians, and provisional guardians. All provisions of this chapter apply to temporary quardians unless otherwise specified.

- "(b)(1) The court, on appropriate petition, may appoint an emergency guardian, whose authority may not extend beyond 15 days, if:
- "(A) An incapacitated individual has no guardian;
- "(B) A life-threatening situation or situation involving emergency care exists; and
- "(C) No other person appears to have authority to act within the circumstances.
- "(2) An emergency guardian appointed pursuant to this subsection may exercise those powers granted in the order.
- "(3) Immediately upon receipt of the petition, the court shall appoint counsel for the individual alleged to be incapacitated and provide notice to the individual alleged to be incapacitated and to interested persons, pursuant to section 21-2042.
- "(4) The individual alleged to be incapacitated, counsel for that individual, or any other interested person may request a hearing at any time within the period of the temporary guardianship. The hearing shall be held no later than 48 hours after the request.
- "(5) The court may extend the authority of an emergency guardian appointed pursuant to this subsection to authorize the emergency guardian to serve as a health-care guardian consistent with subsection (c) of this section.
- "(c)(1) The court, on appropriate petition, may appoint a health-care guardian for the individual alleged to be incapacitated for a specified period of time of up to 90 days if:
- "(A) An individual has been determined to be incapacitated under section 21- 2204;
- "(B) The individual has no guardian; and
- "(C) No other person appears to have authority to act within the circumstances.
- "(2) The health-care guardian shall have the powers and duties set forth at section 21-2047b(b).
- "(3) An appropriate petition shall include the certification of incapacity made pursuant to section 21-2204. Immediately upon receipt of the petition, counsel shall be appointed for the individual alleged to be incapacitated, and notice provided to the individual alleged to be incapacitated and to interested persons, pursuant to section 21-2042. The hearing shall be held within 7 days of receipt of the petition.
- "(4) The court may extend the authority of a health-care guardian for one additional period of up to 90 days:
- "(A) Upon determination of continued incapacity and determination of a continued need for the provision of substituted consent for any health-care service, treatment, or procedure pursuant to section 21-2210; or
- "(B) If a petition for a permanent limited guardian or general guardian, pursuant to section 21-2041, has been filed with the court prior to the expiration of the appointment of the temporary guardian.
- "(d) If the court finds that any appointed guardian is not effectively performing duties and that the welfare of the ward requires immediate action, it may appoint, with notice to interested parties within 14 day after the appointment, a provisional guardian. The provisional guardian shall have the powers set forth in the previous order of appointment for a specified period not to exceed 6 months. The authority of any permanent guardian previously appointed by the court is suspended as long as a provisional guardian has authority."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary amendment of section, see § 2(b) of the Mentally Retarded Citizens Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 1998 (D.C. Act 12-554, December 30, 1998, 45 DCR 566).

For temporary amendment of section, see § 2(b) of the Mentally Retarded Citizens Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 1999 (D.C. Act 13-56, April 16, 1999, 46 DCR 4289).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of the Mentally Retarded Citizens Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 1999 (D.C. Act 13-56, April 16, 1999, 46 DCR 3858).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of the Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 1999 (D.C. Act 13-202, December 1, 1999, 47 DCR 134).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of the Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-285, March 7, 2000, 47 DCR 2033).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of the Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted

Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-455, November 7, 2000, 47 DCR 9415).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2001 (D.C. Act 14-3, February 13, 2001, 48 DCR 2251).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2002 (D.C. Act 14-246, January 28, 2002, 49 DCR 1040).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 2002 (D.C. Act 14-514, October 23, 2002, 49 DCR 10480).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Second Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2002 (D.C. Act 14-602, January 7, 2003, 50 DCR 684).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 2003 (D.C. Act 15-234, November 25, 2003, 50 DCR 10734).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2004 (D.C. Act 15-359, February 19, 2004, 51 DCR 2578).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted for Health Care Decisions Emergency Amendment Act of 2004 (D.C. Act 15-558, October 26, 2004, 51 DCR 10375).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Citizens with Mental Retardation Substituted Consent for Health Care Decisions Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-6, January 19, 2005, 52 DCR 2683).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-190, October 28, 2005, 52 DCR 10021).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(b) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Mental Retardation and Development Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-262, January 26, 2006, 53 DCR 795).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(f) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(f) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(f) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(f) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) amendment, see § 2(f) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-249, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2011.

For Law 14-64, see notes following § 21-2011.

For Law 14-241, see notes following § 21-2011.

For Law 15-98, see notes following § § 21-2011.

For Law 15-245, see notes following § 21-2011.

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-208 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2047. POWERS AND DUTIES OF GENERAL GUARDIAN AND LIMITED GUARDIAN.

Except as limited pursuant to section 21-2044, a general guardian or a limited guardian of an incapacitated individual is responsible for care, custody, and control of the ward, but is not personally liable to third persons by reason of that responsibility for acts of the ward.

- (a) In particular and without qualifying the foregoing, a general guardian or limited guardian shall:
 - (1) Become or remain personally acquainted with the ward and maintain sufficient contact with the ward to know of the ward's capacities, limitations, needs, opportunities, and physical and mental health;
 - (2) Take reasonable care of the ward's personal effects and commence protective proceedings, if necessary, to protect other property of the ward;
 - (3) Apply any available money of the ward to the ward's current needs for support, care, habilitation, and treatment:
 - (4) Conserve any excess money of the ward for the ward's future needs, but if a conservator has been appointed for the estate of the ward, the guardian, at least quarterly, shall pay to the conservator money of the ward to be conserved for the ward's future needs;
 - (5) Report in writing the condition of the ward and of the ward's estate that has been subject to the guardian's possession or control, as ordered by the court on petition of any person interested in the ward's welfare or on any order of the court, but at least semiannually;
 - (6) Make decisions on behalf of the ward by conforming as closely as possible to a standard of substituted judgment or, if the ward's wishes are unknown and remain unknown after reasonable efforts to discern them, make the decision on the basis of the ward's best interests;
 - (7) Include the ward in the decision-making process to the maximum extent of the ward's ability; and
 - (8) Encourage the ward to act on his or her own behalf whenever he or she is able to do so, and to develop or regain capacity to make decisions in those areas in which he or she is in need of decision-making assistance, to the maximum extent possible.
- (b) A general guardian or limited guardian may:
 - (1) Receive money payable for the support of the ward under the terms of any statutory benefit or insurance system or any private contract, devise, trust, conservatorship, or custodianship;
 - (2) Take custody of the person of the ward and establish the ward's place of abode within or without the District, if consistent with the terms of any order by a court of competent jurisdiction relating to detention or commitment of the ward;
 - (3) Institute proceedings, including administrative proceedings, or take other appropriate action to compel the performance by any person of a duty to support the ward or to pay sums for the welfare of the ward, if no conservator for the estate of the ward has been appointed;
 - (4) Consent to medical examination and medical or other professional care, treatment, or advice for the ward, without liability, by reason of the consent for injury to the ward resulting from the negligence or acts of third persons, unless the guardian fails to act in good faith;
 - (5) Obtain medical records for the purpose of applying for government entitlements or private benefits and have the status of a legal representative under the District of Columbia Mental Health Information Act of 1978, effective March 3, 1979 (D.C. Law 2-136; § 7-1201.01 et seq.); and
 - (6) If reasonable under all of the circumstances, delegate to the ward certain responsibilities for decisions affecting the ward's well-being.
- (c) [Repealed].
- (d) A guardian is entitled to reasonable compensation for services as guardian and to reimbursement for room, board, and clothing personally provided to the ward, but only as approved by order of the court pursuant to section 21- 2060(a).

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; May 10, 1989, D.C. Law 7-231, § 27, 36 DCR 492; Sept. 22, 1989, D.C. Law 8-34, § 2(h), 36 DCR 5035; Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(g), 55 DCR 9206.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2047.

Effect of Amendments

- D.C. Law 17-249, rewrote the section name line, which had read as follows: "General powers and duties of guardian."; in the lead-in language of the section and subsecs. (a) and (b), substituted "a general guardian or a limited guardian" for "guardian"; in subsec. (a)(4), deleted "and" from the end; in subsec. (a)(5), substituted "on any order of the court, but at least semiannually;" for "as required by court rule, but at least semi-annually."; added subsecs. (a)(6), (7), (8); and repealed subsec. (c), which had read as follows:
- "(c) A guardian shall not have the power:
- "(1) To consent to an abortion, sterilization, psycho-surgery, or removal of a bodily organ except to preserve the life or prevent the immediate serious impairment of the physical health of the incapacitated individual, unless the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- "(2) To consent to convulsive therapy, experimental treatment or research, or behavior modification programs involving aversive stimuli, unless the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- "(3) To consent to the withholding of non-emergency, life-saving, medical procedures unless it appears that the incapacitated person would have consented to the withholding of these procedures and the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- "(4) To consent to the involuntary or voluntary civil commitment of an incapacitated individual who is alleged to be mentally ill and dangerous under any provision or proceeding occurring under Chapter 5 of Title 21, except that a guardian may function as a petitioner for the commitment consistent with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Title 21 or the Mentally Retarded Citizens Constitutional Rights and Dignity Act of 1978, effective November 8, 1978 (D.C. Law 2-137; D.C. Official Code, § 7-1301.01 et seq.);
- "(5) To consent to the waiver of any substantive or procedural right of the incapacitated individual in any proceeding arising from an insanity acquittal; or
- "(6) To prohibit the marriage or divorce, or consent to the termination of parental rights, unless the power is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court."

Temporary Amendments of Section

Section 2(g) of D.C. Law 16-194 amended the section heading to read as follows: "§ 21-2047. Powers and duties of general guardian and limited guardian."; in the lead-in text substituted "a general guardian or a limited guardian" for "guardian"; in subsec. (a), in the lead-in text, substituted "general guardian or limited guardian" for "guardian", in par. (4) struck the word "and" at the end, in par. (5) substituted "on any order of the court, but at least semi-annually," for "as required by court rule, but at least semi-annually.", and added pars. (6) and (7) to read as follows:

- "(6) Make decisions on behalf of the ward by conforming as closely as possible to a standard of substituted judgment or, if the ward's wishes are unknown and remain unknown after reasonable efforts to discern them, make the decision on the basis of the ward's best interests; and
- "(7) Encourage the ward to participate with the guardian in the decision-making process to the maximum extent of the ward's ability in order to encourage the ward to act on his or her own behalf whenever he or she is able to do so, and to develop or regain capacity to make decisions in those areas in which he or she is in need of decision-making assistance, to the maximum extent possible."
- ; in subsec. (b), in the introductory paragraph, substituted "general guardian or limited guardian" for "guardian"; and repealed subsec. (c).

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(g) of D.C. Law 17-100 amended the section heading to read as follows: "§ 21-2047. Powers and duties of general guardian and limited guardian."; in the lead-in text, substituted "a general guardian or a limited guardian" for "guardian"; in subsec. (a), in the lead-in text, substituted "general guardian or limited guardian" for "guardian", in par. (4), deleted "and" at the end, in par. (5), substituted "on any order of the court, but at least semiannually." for "as required by court rule, but at least semi-annually.", and added pars. (6), (7), and (8) to read as follows:

- "(6) Make decisions on behalf of the ward by conforming as closely as possible to a standard of substituted judgment or, if the ward's wishes are unknown and remain unknown after reasonable efforts to discern them, make the decision on the basis of the ward's best interests;
- "(7) Include the ward in the decision-making process to the maximum extent of the ward's ability; and
- "(8) Encourage the individual to act on his or her own behalf whenever he or she is able to do so, and to develop or regain capacity to make decisions in those areas in which he or she is in need of decision-making assistance, to the maximum extent possible."
- ; in subsec. (b), in the lead-in text, substituted "general guardian or limited guardian" for "guardian"; and repealed subsec. (c).

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(g) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) addition of sections, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(g) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) addition of sections, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(g) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR).

For temporary (90 day) additions, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17- 161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(g) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) additions, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) amendment, see § 2(g) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

For temporary (90 day) additions, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Law 7-231, the "Technical Amendments Act of 1988," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 7-586, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 29, 1988, and December 13, 1988, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 6, 1989, it was assigned Act No. 7-285 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-34, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2002.

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-209 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2047.01. LIMITATIONS ON TEMPORARY, LIMITED, AND GENERAL GUARDIANS.

A quardian shall not have the power:

- (1) To consent to an abortion, sterilization, psycho-surgery, or removal of a bodily organ except to preserve the life or prevent the immediate serious impairment of the physical health of the incapacitated individual, unless the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- (2) To consent to convulsive therapy, experimental treatment or research, or behavior modification programs involving aversive stimuli, unless the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- (3) To consent to the withholding of non-emergency, life-saving, medical procedures unless it appears that the incapacitated person would have consented to the withholding of these procedures and the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- (4) To consent to the involuntary or voluntary civil commitment of an incapacitated individual who is alleged to be mentally ill and dangerous under any provision or proceeding occurring under Chapter 5 of Title 21, except that a quardian may function as a petitioner for the commitment consistent with the

requirements of Chapter 5 of Title 21 or Chapter 13 of Title 7;

- (5) To consent to the waiver of any substantive or procedural right of the incapacitated individual in any proceeding arising from an insanity acquittal; or
- (6) To prohibit the marriage or divorce, or consent to the termination of parental rights, unless the power is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court.

(Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(h), 55 DCR 9206.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Temporary Addition of Section

Section 2(h) of D.C. Law 16-194 added a section to read as follows:

"§ 21-2047a. Limitations on temporary, limited, and general guardians.

"A guardian shall not have the power:

- "(1) To consent to an abortion, sterilization, psycho-surgery, or removal of a bodily organ except to preserve the life or prevent the immediate serious impairment of the physical health of the incapacitated individual, unless the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- "(2) To consent to convulsive therapy, experimental treatment or research, or behavior modification programs involving aversive stimuli, unless the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- "(3) To consent to the withholding of non-emergency, life-saving, medical procedures unless it appears that the incapacitated person would have consented to the withholding of these procedures and the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- "(4) To consent to the involuntary or voluntary civil commitment of an incapacitated individual who is alleged to be mentally ill and dangerous under any provision or proceeding occurring under Chapter 5 of Title 21, except that a guardian may function as a petitioner for the commitment consistent with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Title 21 or Chapter 13 of Title 7;
- "(5) To consent to the waiver of any substantive or procedural right of the incapacitated individual in any proceeding arising from an insanity acquittal; or
- "(6) To prohibit the marriage or divorce, or consent to the termination of parental rights, unless the power is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court.

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(h) of D.C. Law 17-100 added a section to read as follows:

"§ 21-2047a. Limitations on temporary, limited, and general guardians.

"A guardian shall not have the power:

- "(1) To consent to an abortion, sterilization, psycho-surgery, or removal of a bodily organ, except to preserve the life or prevent the immediate serious impairment of the physical health of the incapacitated individual, unless the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- "(2) To consent to convulsive therapy, experimental treatment or research, or behavior modification programs involving aversive stimuli, unless the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- "(3) To consent to the withholding of non-emergency, life-saving, medical procedures unless it appears that the incapacitated person would have consented to the withholding of these procedures and the power to consent is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court;
- "(4) To consent to the involuntary or voluntary civil commitment of an incapacitated individual who is alleged to be mentally ill and dangerous under any provision or proceeding occurring under Chapter 5 of Title 21, except that a guardian may function as a petitioner for the commitment consistent with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Title 21 or Chapter 13 of Title 7;
- "(5) To consent to the waiver of any substantive or procedural right of the incapacitated individual in any proceeding arising from an insanity acquittal; or
- "(6) To prohibit the marriage or divorce, or consent to the termination of parental rights, unless the power is expressly set forth in the order of appointment or after subsequent hearing and order of the court.
- "(3) Have the status of a legal representative under Chapter 12 of Title 7."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

§ 21-2047.02. POWERS AND DUTIES OF EMERGENCY AND HEALTH-CARE GUARDIANS.

- (a) Except as limited by sections 21-2046 and 21-2047.01, an emergency guardian or health-care guardian is responsible for providing substituted consent for an incapacitated individual and for any other duties authorized by the court, but is not personally liable to third persons by reason of that responsibility or acts of the incapacitated individual.
- (b) An emergency or health-care guardian shall:
 - (1) Become or remain personally acquainted with the ward and maintain sufficient contact with the ward to know of his or her capacities, limitations, needs, opportunities, and physical and mental health;
 - (2) Make decisions on behalf of the ward by conforming as closely as possible to a standard of substituted judgment or, if the ward's wishes are unknown and remain unknown after reasonable efforts to discern them, make the decision on the basis of the ward's best interests;
 - (3) Include the ward in the decision-making process to the maximum extent of the ward's ability.
 - (4) Encourage the individual to act on his or her own behalf whenever he or she is able to do so, and to develop or regain capacity to make decisions in those areas in which he or she is in need of decision-making assistance, to the maximum extent possible; and
 - (5) Make any report the court requires.
- (c) An emergency or health-care guardian may:
 - (1) Grant, refuse, or withdraw consent to medical examination and health-care treatment for an individual who has been deemed incapacitated pursuant to section 21-2204;
 - (2) Obtain medical records for the purpose of providing substituted consent pursuant to section 21-2210: and
 - (3) Have the status of a legal representative under Chapter 12 of Title 7.

(Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(h), 55 DCR 9206.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Temporary Addition of Section

Section 2(h) of D.C. Law 16-194 added a section to read as follows:

- "§ 21-2047b. Powers and duties of emergency and health-care guardians.
- "(a) Except as limited by sections 21-2046 and 21-2047a, an emergency guardian or health-care guardian is responsible for providing substituted consent for an incapacitated individual and for any other duties authorized by the court, but is not personally liable to third persons by reason of that responsibility or acts of the incapacitated individual.
- "(b) An emergency or health-care guardian shall:
- "(1) Become or remain personally acquainted with the ward and maintain sufficient contact with the ward to know of his or her capacities, limitations, needs, opportunities, and physical and mental health;
- "(2) Make decisions on behalf of the ward by conforming as closely as possible to a standard of substituted judgment or, if the ward's wishes are unknown and remain unknown after reasonable efforts to discern them, make the decision on the basis of the ward's best interests;

- "(3) Encourage the ward to participate with the guardian in the decision-making process to the maximum extent of the ward's ability in order to encourage the individual to act on his or her own behalf whenever he or she is able to do so, and to develop or regain capacity to make decisions in those areas in which he or she is in need of decision-making assistance, to the maximum extent possible; and
- "(4) Make any report the court requires.
- "(c) An emergency or health-care guardian may:
- "(1) Grant, refuse, or withdraw consent to medical examination and health-care treatment for which the individual has been deemed incapacitated pursuant to section 21-2204;
- "(2) Obtain medical records for the purpose of providing substituted consent pursuant to section 21-2210; and
- "(3) Have the status of a legal representative under Chapter 12 of Title 7."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(h) of D.C. Law 17-100 added a section to read as follows:

- "§ 21-2047b. Powers and duties of emergency and health-care guardians.
- "(a) Except as limited by sections 21-2046 and 21-2047a, an emergency guardian or health-care guardian is responsible for providing substituted consent for an incapacitated individual and for any other duties authorized by the court, but is not personally liable to third persons by reason of that responsibility or acts of the incapacitated individual.
- "(b) An emergency or health-care guardian shall:
- "(1) Become or remain personally acquainted with the ward and maintain sufficient contact with the ward to know of his or her capacities, limitations, needs, opportunities, and physical and mental health;
- "(2) Make decisions on behalf of the ward by conforming as closely as possible to a standard of substituted judgment or, if the ward's wishes are unknown and remain unknown after reasonable efforts to discern them, make the decision on the basis of the ward's best interests;
- "(3) Include the ward in the decision-making process to the maximum extent of the ward's ability;
- "(4) Encourage the individual to act on his or her own behalf whenever he or she is able to do so, and to develop or regain capacity to make decisions in those areas in which he or she is in need of decision-making assistance, to the maximum extent possible; and
- "(5) Make any report the court requires.
- "(c) An emergency or health-care guardian may:
- "(1) Grant, refuse, or withdraw consent to medical examination and health-care treatment for an individual who has been deemed incapacitated pursuant to section 21-2204;
- "(2) Obtain medical records for the purpose of providing substituted consent pursuant to section 21-2210; and
- "(3) Have the status of a legal representative under Chapter 12 of Title 7."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17- 161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2(h) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

§ 21-2048. TERMINATION OF GUARDIANSHIP FOR INCAPACITATED INDIVIDUAL.

The authority and responsibility of a guardian of an incapacitated individual terminates upon the death of

the guardian or ward, the determination of incapacity of the guardian, or the removal or resignation of the guardian as provided in section 21-2049. The termination does not affect a guardian's liability for prior acts or the obligation to account for funds and assets of the ward.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2048.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-210 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2049. REMOVAL OR RESIGNATION OF GUARDIAN; TERMINATION OF INCAPACITY.

- (a)(1) On petition of the guardian, the court, after a hearing, may accept a resignation of a guardian.
 - (2) The court may remove a temporary guardian at any time.
 - (3) On petition of the ward or any interested person, or on the court's own motion, the court, after a hearing, may remove a limited guardian or a general guardian for any of the following reasons:
 - (A) Failure to discharge his or her duties, including failure to conform as closely as possible to a standard of substituted judgment or, if the ward's wishes are unknown and remain unknown after reasonable efforts to discern them, to make a decision on the basis of the ward's best interests, pursuant to section 21-2047(a)(6) or 21-2047.02(b)(2);
 - (B) Abuse of his or her powers;
 - (C) Failure to comply with any order of the court;
 - (D) Failure to educate or provide for the ward as liberally as the ward's financial situation permits, if education and financial management fall within the scope of the guardianship;
 - (E) Interference with the ward's progress or participation in programs in the community; or
 - (F) For any other good cause.
- (b) The ward or any person interested in the welfare of the ward may petition for an order that the ward is no longer incapacitated and for termination of the guardianship. A request for an order may also be made informally to the court and any individual who knowingly interferes with transmission of the request may be adjudged guilty of contempt of court. A ward seeking termination is entitled to the same rights and procedures as in an original proceeding for appointment of a guardian.
- (c) Upon removal, resignation, or death of the guardian, or if the guardian is determined to be incapacitated, the court may appoint a successor guardian and make any other appropriate order. Before appointing a successor guardian, or ordering that a ward's incapacity has terminated, the court shall follow the same procedures to safeguard the rights of the ward that apply to a petition for appointment of a guardian.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(i), 55 DCR 9206.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2049.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 17-249 rewrote subsec. (a), which had read as follows:

"(a) On petition of the ward or any person interested in the ward's welfare, the court, after hearing, may remove a guardian if removal is in the best interest of the ward. On petition of the guardian, the court, after hearing, may accept a resignation."

Temporary Amendments of Section

Section 2(i) of D.C. Law 16-194 amended subsec. (a) to read as follows:

"(a)(1) On petition of the guardian, the court, after hearing, may accept a resignation of a guardian.

- "(2) The court may remove a temporary guardian at any time.
- "(3) On petition of the ward or any interested person, or on the court's own motion, the court, after hearing, may remove a limited guardian or a general guardian for any of the following reasons:
- "(A) Failure to discharge his or her duties, including failure to conform as closely as possible to a standard of substituted judgment or, if the ward's wishes are unknown and remain unknown after reasonable efforts to discern them, to make a decision on the basis of the ward's best interests, pursuant to section 21-2047(a)(6) or 21-2047b(b)(2);
- "(B) Abuse of his or her powers;
- "(C) Failure to comply with any order of the court;
- "(D) Failure to educate or provide for the ward as liberally as the ward's financial situation permits, if education and financial management fall within the scope of the guardianship;
- "(E) Interference with the ward's progress or participation in programs in the community; or
- "(F) For any other good cause."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 16-194 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Section 2(i) of D.C. Law 17-100 amended subsec. (a) to read as follows:

- "(a)(1) On petition of the guardian, the court, after a hearing, may accept a resignation of a guardian.
- "(2) The court may remove a temporary guardian at any time.
- "(3) On petition of the ward or any interested person, or on the court's own motion, the court, after a hearing, may remove a limited guardian or a general guardian for any of the following reasons:
- "(A) Failure to discharge his or her duties, including failure to conform as closely as possible to a standard of substituted judgment or, if the ward's wishes are unknown and remain unknown after reasonable efforts to discern them, to make a decision on the basis of the ward's best interests, pursuant to section 21-2047(a)(6) or 21-2047b(b)(2);
- "(B) Abuse of his or her powers;
- "(C) Failure to comply with any order of the court;
- "(D) Failure to educate or provide for the ward as liberally as the ward's financial situation permits, if education and financial management fall within the scope of the guardianship;
- "(E) Interference with the ward's progress or participation in programs in the community; or
- "(F) For any other good cause."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(i) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-480, September 25, 2006, 53 DCR 7940).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(i) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2006 (D.C. Act 16-566, December 19, 2006, 53 DCR 10272).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(i) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(i) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) amendment, see § 2(i) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-211 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

INCAPACITATED, DISAPPEARED OR DETAINED INDIVIDUALS.

§ 21-2051. PROTECTIVE PROCEEDINGS.

- (a) Upon petition and after notice and hearing in accordance with the provisions of this subchapter, the court may appoint a conservator or make any other protective order for cause as provided in this section.
- (b) Appointment of a conservator or other protective order may be made in relation to the estate and affairs of an individual, if the court determines that either the individual is an incapacitated individual according to section 21-2011(11), has disappeared, is being detained by a foreign power, or is being held hostage by someone other than a foreign power and:
 - (1) The individual has property that will be wasted or dissipated unless property management is provided; or
 - (2) Money is needed for the support, care, and welfare of the individual or those entitled to the individual's support and protection is necessary or desirable to obtain and provide money.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Mar. 24, 1998, D.C. Law 12-81, § 14(t), 45 DCR 745.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2051.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-81, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2011.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-301 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2052. ORIGINAL PETITION FOR APPOINTMENT OR PROTECTIVE ORDER.

- (a) The individual to be protected or any person who is interested in the estate, affairs, or welfare of the individual may petition for the appointment of a conservator or for any other appropriate protective order.
- (b) The petition must set forth, to the extent known:
 - (1) The name, address, and interest of the petitioner;
 - (2) The name, age, residence, and address of the individual to be protected;
 - (3) The name and address of the guardian, if any;
 - (4) The name and address of the nearest relative known to the petitioner;
 - (5) A general statement of the individual's property with an estimate of the value of that property, including any compensation, insurance, pension, or allowance to which the individual is entitled; and
 - (6) The reason why appointment of a conservator or other protective order is necessary, stated with sufficient particularity as to enable the court to determine what class of examiner and visitor should examine the individual alleged to be incapacitated. If the appointment of a conservator is requested, the petition shall also set forth the name and address of the person whose appointment is sought and the basis of any claim to priority for appointment.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2052.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-304 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act).

§ 21-2053. NOTICE.

- (a) On a petition for appointment of a conservator or other protective order, the requirements for notice described in section 21-2042 apply, but if the individual to be protected has disappeared, has been detained by a foreign power, or is being held hostage by someone other than a foreign power, notice to the individual must be given by publication as provided in section 21- 2031(b)(3).
- (b) Notice of a hearing on a petition for an order subsequent to appointment of a conservator or other protective order shall be given to the protected individual, any conservator of the protected individual's estate, and any other person as ordered by the court.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2053.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-305 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2054. PROCEDURE CONCERNING HEARING AND ORDER ON ORIGINAL PETITION.

- (a) Upon receipt of a petition for appointment of a conservator or other protective order, the court shall set a date for a hearing. Unless the individual to be protected has chosen counsel, the court shall appoint an attorney to represent the individual. Except where the incapacity is alleged to be by disappearance or detention by a foreign power, the court may appoint an appropriately qualified examiner who shall submit a written report to the court. Except where the incapacity is alleged to be by disappearance or detention by a foreign power or someone other than a foreign power, the court may appoint a visitor who shall submit a written report to the court. If an examiner and a visitor are appointed for an individual, the examiner and visitor shall be separate persons.
- (b) The court may utilize the services of additional visitors to evaluate the condition of the allegedly incapacitated individual and to make appropriate recommendations to the court.
- (c) In the case of an individual whose incapacity is alleged to arise out of an intellectual disability, preference is for the appointment of an examiner and visitor who are qualified mental retardation professionals and who can collectively give a complete social, psychological, and medical evaluation of the individual. When the individual alleged to have mental retardation has a current comprehensive evaluation or habilitation plan, the plan shall be presented as evidence to the court. When a plan exists but has not been updated within 6 months prior to the hearing, preference is for an update of the plan as part of the examination conducted by the examiner and visitor.
- (d) For other individuals alleged to be incapacitated, any current social, psychological, medical, or other evaluation used for diagnostic purposes or in the development of a current plan of treatment, or any current plan of treatment shall be presented as evidence to the court.
- (e) An individual alleged to be incapacitated shall be present at the hearing unless good cause is shown for the absence. The individual shall be represented by counsel and is entitled to present evidence and cross-examine witnesses, including any court-appointed examiner or visitor. The hearing may be closed if the individual alleged to be incapacitated or counsel for the individual so requests.
- (f) Any person may apply for permission to participate in the proceeding and the court may grant the request, with or without hearing, upon determining that the best interest of the individual to be protected will be served. The court may attach appropriate conditions to the permission.
- (g) After the hearing, upon finding that a basis for the appointment of a conservator or other protective order has been established, the court shall make an appointment or other appropriate protective order.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Sept. 22, 1989, D.C. Law 8-34, § 2(i), 36 DCR 5035; Feb. 22, 1990, D.C. Law 8-63, § 2, 36 DCR 7718; May 15, 1990, D.C. Law 8-123, § 2, 37 DCR 2085; Apr. 24, 2007, D.C. Law 16-305, § 35(c)(3), 53 DCR 6198; Sept. 26, 2012, D.C. Law 19-169, § 21(h)(4), 59 DCR 5567.)

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2054.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-305, in subsec. (c), substituted "individual alleged to have mental retardation" for "alleged mentally retarded individual".

D.C. Law 19-169, in subsec. (c), substituted "of an intellectual disability" for "of mental retardation", "Qualified developmental disability professional" for "Qualified mental retardation professional", and "have an intellectual disability" for "have mental retardation".

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-34, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2002.

Law 8-63, the "Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Amendment Temporary Act of 1989," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 8-397. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on September 26, 1989, and October 10, 1989, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on October 27, 1989, it was assigned Act No. 8-98 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 8-63 became effective on February 22, 1990.

Law 8-123, the "Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Amendment Act of 1990," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 8-387, which was referred to the Committee on the Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on February 13, 1990, and February 27, 1990, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on March 15, 1990, it was assigned Act No. 8-176 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For Law 16-305, see notes following § 21-501.

For history of Law 19-169, see notes under § 21-501.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-306 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2055. PERMISSIBLE COURT ORDERS.

- (a) The court shall exercise the authority conferred in this subchapter to encourage the development of maximum self-reliance and independence of a protected individual and make protective orders only to the extent necessitated by the protected individual's mental and adaptive limitations and other conditions warranting the procedure.
- (b) The court has the following powers that may be exercised directly or through a conservator with respect to the estate and business affairs of a protected individual:
 - (1) While a petition for appointment of a conservator or other protective order is pending and after preliminary hearing and without notice to others, the court may preserve and apply the property of the individual to be protected as may be required for the support of the individual or dependents of the individual.
 - (2) After hearing and upon determining that a basis for an appointment or other protective order exists with respect to an individual, the court, for the benefit of the individual and members of the individual's immediate family, has all the powers over the estate and business affairs that the individual could exercise if present and not incapacitated, except the power to make a will. Those powers include, but are not limited to:
 - (A) Power to obtain medical records for purposes of application for governmental entitlements or private benefits;
 - (B) Power to make gifts;
 - (C) Power to convey or release contingent and expectant interests in property, including marital property rights and any right of survivorship incident to a joint tenancy or tenancy by the entirety;
 - (D) Power to exercise or release powers held by the protected individual as trustee, personal representative, custodian for a minor, conservator, or donee of a power of appointment;
 - (E) Power to enter into contracts;
 - (F) Power to create revocable or irrevocable trusts of property of the estate that may extend beyond the incapacity or life of the protected individual;

- (G) Power to exercise options of the protected individual to purchase securities or other property;
- (H) Power to exercise rights to elect options and change beneficiaries under insurance and annuity policies and to surrender the policies for their cash value; and
- (I) Power to exercise any right to an elective share in the estate of the individual's deceased spouse and to renounce or disclaim any interest by testate or intestate succession or by inter vivos transfer.
- (c) The court may exercise or direct the exercise of the following powers only if satisfied, after notice and hearing, that it is in the best interest of the protected individual and that the individual either is incapable of consenting or has consented to the proposed exercise of power:
 - (1) To exercise or release powers of appointment of which the protected individual is donee;
 - (2) To renounce or disclaim interests;
 - (3) To make gifts in trust or otherwise exceeding 20% of any year's income of the estate; and
 - (4) To change beneficiaries under insurance and annuity policies.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2055.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-307 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2056. PROTECTIVE ARRANGEMENTS AND SINGLE TRANSACTIONS AUTHORIZED.

- (a) If it is established in a proper proceeding that a basis exists as described in section 21-2051 for affecting the property and business affairs of an individual, the court, without appointing a conservator, may authorize, direct, or ratify any transaction necessary or desirable to achieve any security, service, or care arrangement meeting the foreseeable needs of the protected individual. Protective arrangements include payment, delivery, deposit, or retention of funds or property; sale, mortgage, lease, or other transfer of property; entry into an annuity contract, a contract for life care, a deposit contract, or a contract for training and education; or addition to or establishment of a suitable trust.
- (b) If it is established in a proper proceeding that a basis exists as described in section 21-2051 for affecting the property and business affairs of an individual, the court, without appointing a conservator, may authorize, direct, or ratify any contract, trust, or other transaction relating to the protected individual's property and business affairs if the court determines that the transaction is in the best interest of the protected individual.
- (c) Before approving a protective arrangement or other transaction under this section, the court shall consider the interests of creditors and dependents of the protected individual and, in view of the incapacity, disappearance, or detention by a foreign power, whether the protected individual needs the continuing protection of a conservator. The court may appoint a special conservator to assist in the accomplishment of any protective arrangement or other transaction authorized under this section who shall have the authority conferred by the order and serve until discharged by order after report to the court of all matters done pursuant to the order of appointment.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2056.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-308 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2057. WHO MAY BE APPOINTED CONSERVATOR; PRIORITIES.

- (a) The court may appoint a person or a corporation with general power to serve as trustee or conservator of the estate of a protected individual. The following are entitled to consideration for appointment in the order listed:
 - (1) A conservator, guardian of property, or other like fiduciary appointed or recognized by an appropriate court of any other jurisdiction in which the protected individual resides, or a person nominated by the incapacitated individual in a durable power of attorney;
 - (2) A person or corporation nominated by the protected individual;
 - (3) The spouse of the protected individual;
 - (4) An adult child of the protected individual;
 - (5) A parent of the protected individual;
 - (6) Any relative of the protected individual who has resided with the protected individual for more than 6 months before the filing of the petition; and
 - (7) Any other person.
- (b) An individual listed in paragraph (1), (3), (4), (5), or (6) of subsection (a) of this section may designate in writing a substitute to serve instead and transfer the priority to the substitute. With respect to persons having equal priority, the court shall select the person it deems best qualified to serve. The court, acting in the best interest of the protected individual, may pass over a person having priority and appoint a person having a lower priority or no priority.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Mar. 24, 1998, D.C. Law 12-81, § 14(u), 45 DCR 745.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2057.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-81, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2011.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-309 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2058. BOND.

The court may require a conservator to furnish a bond conditioned upon faithful discharge of all duties of the trust according to law, with sureties as it shall specify. Unless otherwise directed, the bond must be in the amount of the aggregate capital value of the property of the estate in the conservator's control, plus 1 year's estimated income, and minus the value of securities deposited under arrangements requiring an order of the court for their removal and the value of any land that the fiduciary, by express limitation of power, lacks power to sell or convey without court authorization.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2058.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-310 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2059. EFFECT OF ACCEPTANCE OF APPOINTMENT.

By accepting appointment, a conservator submits personally to the jurisdiction of the court in any proceeding relating to the estate that may be instituted by any interested person. Notice of any proceeding

shall be delivered to the conservator or mailed, by registered or certified mail, to the address as listed in the petition for appointment or as reported to the court and to the address as then known to the petitioner, except where the conservator resides in a foreign jurisdiction in which case notice shall be made to the court.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2059.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-312 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2060. COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES.

- (a) As approved by order of the court, any visitor, attorney, examiner, conservator, special conservator, guardian ad litem, or guardian is entitled to compensation for services rendered either in a guardianship proceeding, protective proceeding, or in connection with a guardianship or protective arrangement. Any guardian or conservator is entitled to reimbursement for room, board, and clothing personally provided to the ward from the estate of the ward, but only as approved by order of the court. Compensation shall be paid from the estate of the ward or person or, if the estate of the ward or person will be depleted by payouts made under this subsection, from a fund established by the District.
- (a-1) The estate of a person or ward shall be presumed to be depleted for purposes of this chapter, and all compensation, expenses, and payouts made under this section shall be paid from a fund established by the District:
 - (1) If the person or ward qualifies for federal Supplemental Security Income under Title XVI of the Social Security Act;
 - (2) If the person or ward qualifies for Medicaid or Medicaid Expansion Programs as allowed by federal, state, or local requirements;
 - (3) If the person or ward qualifies for other means-tested public assistance programs as allowed by federal, state, or local requirements, including, Temporary Assistance for Needy Families, Interim Disability Assistance, Food Stamps, and D.C. Healthcare Alliance;
 - (4) If the person or ward qualifies for federal disability benefits, including Old Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance Benefits under Title II of the Social Security Act, Rehabilitation Services Administration Payments, Railroad Retirement Board, or Veterans benefits and such benefits constitute the person or ward's sole source of income;
 - (5) If the person or ward has been found to be unable to pay for habilitation, care, or legal services by any branch of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia; or
 - (6) If the circumstances listed in paragraphs (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) of this subsection do not apply, the person or ward may establish, by affidavit or other proof satisfactory to the court, the inability to pay any costs without substantial financial hardship to himself or herself or his or her family.
- (b) There is established within the General Fund of the District of Columbia a separate account to be known as the "Guardianship Fund" ("Fund") and to be administered by the court. There is authorized to be appropriated funds necessary for the administration of this section.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; July 25, 1987, D.C. Law 7-17, § 2(a), 34 DCR 3802; Oct. 22, 2008, D.C. Law 17-249, § 2(j), 55 DCR 9206; Sept. 26, 2012, D.C. Law 19-171, § 76, 59 DCR 6190.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2060.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 17-249 added subsec. (a-1).

D.C. Law 19-171, in subsec. (a-1)(3), inserted a comma following "requirements".

Section 2(j) of D.C. Law 17-100 added subsec. (a-1) to read as follows:

- "(a-1) The estate of a person or ward shall be deemed depleted for purposes of this chapter, and all compensation, expenses, and payouts made under this section shall be paid from a fund established by the District:
- "(1) If the person or ward qualifies for federal Supplemental Security Income under Title XVI of the Social Security Act;
- "(2) If the person or ward qualifies for Medicaid or Medicaid Expansion Programs as allowed by federal, state, or local requirements;
- "(3) If the person or ward qualifies for other means-tested public assistance programs as allowed by federal, state, or local requirements, including Temporary Assistance for Needy Families, Interim Disability Assistance, Food Stamps, or D.C. Healthcare Alliance;
- "(4) If the person or ward qualifies for federal disability benefits, including Old Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance Benefits under Title II of the Social Security Act, Rehabilitation Services Administration Payments, Railroad Retirement Board, or Veterans benefits and such benefits constitute the person or ward's sole source of income:
- "(5) If the person or ward has been found to be unable to pay for habilitation, care, or legal services by any branch of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia; or
- "(6) If the circumstances listed in paragraphs (1), (2), (3), (4), or (5) of this subsection do not apply, the person or ward establishes, by affidavit or other proof satisfactory to the court, the inability to pay any costs without substantial financial hardship to himself or herself or his or her family."

Section 6(b) of D.C. Law 17-100 provides that the act shall expire after 225 days of its having taken effect.

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(j) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-161, October 18, 2007, 54 DCR 10932).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2(j) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-245, January 23, 2008, 55 DCR 1230).

For temporary (90 day) amendment, see § 2(j) of Health-Care Decisions for Persons with Developmental Disabilities Emergency Act of 2008 (D.C. Act 17-492, August 4, 2008, 55 DCR 9167).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Law 7-17, the "District of Columbia Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Amendment Act of 1987," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 7-199, which was referred to the Committee on the Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 5, 1987, and May 19, 1987, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on June 1, 1987, it was assigned Act No. 7-31 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For Law 17-249, see notes following § 21-2002.

Law 19-171, the "Technical Amendments Act of 2012", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 19-397, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on March 20, 2012, and April 17, 2012, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on May 23, 2012, it was assigned Act No. 19-376 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 19-171 became effective on September 26, 2012.

References in Text

Title XVI of the Social Security Act, referred to in subsection (a-1) of this section, is codified as 42 U.S.C.A. § 1381 et seq.

Title II of the Social Security Act, referred to in subdivision (a-1) of this section, is codified as 42 U.S.C.A. §§ 401 to 433.

Miscellaneous Notes

Appropriations approved: Public Law 104-194, 110 Stat. 2358, the District of Columbia Appropriations Act, 1997, provided that funds appropriated for expenses under § 21-2060, for fiscal year ending September 30, 1997, shall be available for obligations incurred under that Act in each fiscal year since inception in fiscal year 1989.

Prompt Payment of Appointed Counsel. Section 129 of Pub. L. 107-96, Dec. 21, 2001, 115 Stat. 923, provides:

"(a) ASSESSMENT OF INTEREST FOR DELAYED PAYMENTS -- If the Superior Court of the District of

Columbia or the District of Columbia Court of Appeals does not make a payment described in subsection (b) prior to the expiration of the 45- day period which begins on the date the Court receives a completed voucher for a claim for the payment, interest shall be assessed against the amount of the payment which would otherwise be made to take into account the period which begins on the day after the expiration of such 45-day period and which ends on the day the Court makes the payment.

- "(b) PAYMENTS DESCRIBED. -- A payment described in this subsection is --
- "(1) a payment authorized under section 11-2604 and section 11-2605, D.C. Code (relating to representation provided under the District of Columbia Criminal Justice Act);
- "(2) a payment for counsel appointed in proceedings in the Family Division of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia under chapter 23 of title 16, D.C. Code; or
- "(3) a payment for counsel authorized under section 21-2060, D.C. Code (relating to representation provided under the District of Columbia Guardianship, Protective Proceedings, and Durable Power of Attorney Act of 1986).
- "(c) STANDARDS FOR SUBMISSION OF COMPLETED VOUCHERS. -- The chief judges of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia and the District of Columbia Court of Appeals shall establish standards and criteria for determining whether vouchers submitted for claims for payments described in subsection (b) are complete, and shall publish and make such standards and criteria available to attorneys who practice before such Courts.
- "(d) RULE OF CONSTRUCTION. -- Nothing in this section shall be construed to require the assessment of interest against any claim (or portion of any claim) which is denied by the Court involved.
- "(e) EFFECTIVE DATE. -- This section shall apply with respect to claims received by the Superior Court of the District of Columbia or the District of Columbia Court of Appeals during fiscal year 2002, and claims received previously that remain unpaid at the end of fiscal year 2001, and would have qualified for interest payment under this section."

Prompt Payment of Appointed Counsel. Section 128 of Pub. L. 108-7, Feb. 20, 2003, 117 Stat. 127, provides:

- "(a) If the Superior Court of the District of Columbia or the District of Columbia Court of Appeals does not make a payment described in subsection (b) prior to the expiration of the 45-day period which begins on the date the Court receives a completed voucher for a claim for the payment, interest shall be assessed against the amount of the payment which would otherwise be made to take into account the period which begins on the day after the expiration of such 45-day period and which ends on the day the Court makes the payment.
- "(b) A payment described in this subsection is--
- "(1) a payment authorized under section 11-2604 and section 11-2605, D.C. Official Code (relating to representation provided under the District of Columbia Criminal Justice Act);
- "(2) a payment for counsel appointed in proceedings in the Family Court of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia under chapter 23 of title 16, D.C. Official Code; or
- "(3) a payment for counsel authorized under section 21-2060, D.C. Official Code (relating to representation provided under the District of Columbia Guardianship, Protective Proceedings, and Durable Power of Attorney Act of 1986).
- "(c) The chief judges of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia and the District of Columbia Court of Appeals shall establish standards and criteria for determining whether vouchers submitted for claims for payments described in subsection (b) are complete, and shall publish and make such standards and criteria available to attorneys who practice before such Courts.
- "(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to require the assessment of interest against any claim (or portion of any claim) which is denied by the Court involved.
- "(e) This section shall apply with respect to claims received by the Superior Court of the District of Columbia or the District of Columbia Court of Appeals during fiscal year 2003 and any subsequent fiscal year."

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-313 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2061. DEATH, RESIGNATION, OR REMOVAL OF CONSERVATOR.

The court may remove a conservator for good cause, upon notice and hearing, or accept the resignation of a conservator. Upon the conservator's death, resignation, or removal, the court may appoint another conservator. A conservator so appointed succeeds to the title and powers of the predecessor.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2061.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-314 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2062. PETITIONS FOR ORDERS SUBSEQUENT TO APPOINTMENT.

- (a) Any person interested in the welfare of an individual for whom a conservator has been appointed may petition the court for an order:
 - (1) Requiring bond, additional bond, or reducing bond;
 - (2) Requiring a special accounting for the administration of the trust;
 - (3) Directing distribution;
 - (4) Removing the conservator and appointing a temporary or successor conservator; or
 - (5) Granting other appropriate relief.
- (b) A conservator may petition the court for instructions concerning fiduciary responsibility.
- (c) Upon notice and hearing, the court may give appropriate instructions or make any appropriate order.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2062.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-315 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2063. GENERAL DUTY OF CONSERVATOR.

A conservator, in relation to powers conferred by this subchapter, or implicit in the title acquired by virtue of the proceeding, shall act as a fiduciary and observe the standards of care applicable to trustees.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2063.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-316 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2064. INVENTORY AND RECORDS.

Within 60 days after appointment, each conservator shall prepare and file with the court a complete inventory of the estate subject to the conservatorship together with an oath or affirmation that the inventory is believed to be complete and accurate as far as information permits. The conservator shall provide a

copy to the protected individual unless disappeared, detained by a foreign power, or held hostage by someone other than a foreign power. A copy also shall be provided to any guardian.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2064.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

§ 21-2065. ACCOUNTS.

- (a) Each conservator shall account to the court for administration of the trust upon resignation or removal, at least annually on the anniversary date of appointment, and at other times as the court may direct. On termination of the protected individual's incapacity, a conservator shall account to the court, to the formerly protected individual, or the successors of that individual. Subject to appeal or vacation within the time permitted, an order after notice and hearing allowing an intermediate account of a conservator adjudicates liabilities concerning the matters considered in connection with the order, and an order, following notice and hearing, allowing a final account adjudicates all previously unsettled liabilities of the conservator to the protected individual or the protected individual's successors relating to the conservatorship. In connection with any account, the court may require a conservator to submit to a physical check of the estate to be made in any manner the court specifies.
- (b) Upon appointment, a conservator shall develop an individual conservatorship plan together with the guardian and to the maximum extent possible, the incapacitated individual. The plan shall specify:
 - (1) The services that are necessary to manage the financial resources designated by the order of the court;
 - (2) The means through which those services will be provided;
 - (3) The manner in which the incapacitated individual, guardian, conservator, or any other individual who has been appointed to serve in that capacity will exercise and share their decision-making authority;
 - (4) The policies and procedures governing the expenditure of funds; and
 - (5) Other items that will assist in the management of the designated financial resources and in fulfilling the needs of the incapacitated individual, the terms of the court's order, and the duties of the conservator.
- (c) The individual conservatorship plan shall be submitted to the court not more than 60 days after the conservator has been appointed, together with a complete inventory of the designated financial resources. The inventory shall include an oath or affirmation that, to the best of the conservator's knowledge, it is complete and accurate.
- (d) A conservator shall submit a report to the court:
 - (1) At least annually;
 - (2) When the court orders additional reports to be filed;
 - (3) When there is a significant change in the capacity of the incapacitated individual to manage his or her financial resources;
 - (4) When the conservator resigns or is removed; and
 - (5) When the conservatorship is terminated.
- (e) The court shall require that a copy of the individual conservatorship plan and a copy of the inventory be sent to:
 - (1) The incapacitated individual;
 - (2) The attorney of record for each party;
 - (3) The individual most closely related to the subject of the intervention proceeding by blood, marriage, or domestic partnership unless that individual's name or whereabouts is unknown and cannot be reasonably ascertained;
 - (4) The individual or facility, if any, having custody of the subject of the intervention proceeding;
 - (5) The individual, if any, proposed for appointment by a will as a guardian; and
 - (6) The individual, if any, appointed or proposed for appointment as guardian ad litem.
- (f) The conservator shall be responsible for sending the required copies delineated in subsection (e) of

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Apr. 4, 2006, D.C. Law 16-79, § 7(c), 53 DCR 1035.)

§ 21-2066. CONSERVATORS; TITLE BY APPOINTMENT.

- (a) The appointment of a conservator vests in the conservator title as trustee to all property of the protected individual presently held or after acquired, or to the part of the property specified in the order, including title to any property held for the protected individual by custodians or attorneys-in-fact. An order specifying that only a part of the property of the protected individual vests in the conservator creates a limited conservatorship.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, the interest of the protected individual in property vested in a conservator by this section is not transferable or assignable by the protected individual. An attempted transfer or assignment by the protected individual, though ineffective to affect property rights, may generate a claim for restitution or damages.
- (c) Neither property vested in a conservator by this section nor the interest of the protected person in that property is subject to levy, garnishment, or similar process, except as provided in an order issued in a protective proceeding.
- (d) A claimant whose claim has not been paid may petition the court for a determination of the claim at any time before the claim is barred by the applicable statute of limitations and, upon due proof, may procure an order for the claim's allowance, payment, or security from the estate. If a proceeding is pending against a protected person at the time of the appointment of a conservator or is initiated against the protected person after the appointment, the moving party shall give notice to the conservator whenever the proceeding may result in a claim against the estate.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2066.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-319 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2067. RECORDING OF CONSERVATOR'S LETTERS.

- (a) Letters of conservatorship are evidence of the transfer of all assets, or the part of assets specified in the letters, of a protected individual to the conservator. An order terminating a conservatorship is evidence of the transfer of all assets subjected to the conservatorship from the conservator to the protected individual or to the personal representative of the individual.
- (b) Letters of conservatorship and orders terminating conservatorships shall be filed or recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds to give record notice of title as between the conservator and the protected individual.
- (c) Letters of conservatorship shall be filed or recorded by the conservator and the conservator shall bear the costs of the filings. If the estate would be depleted by the payment of filing fees, the Recorder of Deeds may waive the fees.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2067.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-320 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2068. SALE, ENCUMBRANCE, OR TRANSACTION INVOLVING CONFLICT OF INTEREST; VOIDABLE; EXCEPTIONS.

Any sale or encumbrance to a conservator, the spouse, domestic partner, agent, attorney of a conservator, or any corporation, trust, or other organization in which the conservator has a substantial beneficial interest, or any other transaction involving the estate being administered by the conservator that is affected by a substantial conflict between fiduciary and personal interests is voidable, unless the transaction is approved by the court after a hearing as directed. Notice of the hearing shall be in the form and manner as prescribed in sections 21-2042 (c) and 21-2031 (b) and shall be served on the following individuals:

- (1) The incapacitated individual;
- (2) The attorney of record for each party;
- (3) The individual most closely related to the subject of the intervention proceeding by blood, marriage, or domestic partnership, unless that individual's name or whereabouts is unknown and cannot be reasonably ascertained:
- (4) The individual or facility, if any, having custody of the subject of the intervention proceeding;
- (5) The individual, if any, proposed for appointment by will as a guardian; and
- (6) The individual, if any, appointed or proposed for appointment as guardian ad litem.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Apr. 4, 2006, D.C. Law 16-79, § 7(d), 53 DCR 1035.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2068.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-79, in the lead-in language, substituted "the spouse, domestic partner," for "the spouse,"; and in par. (3), substituted "blood, marriage, or domestic partnership" for "blood or marriage".

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For Law 16-79, see notes following § 21-2011.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-321 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2069. PERSONS DEALING WITH CONSERVATORS; PROTECTION.

- (a) A person who in good faith either assists or deals with a conservator for value in any transaction other than those requiring a court order as provided in section 21-2055(c) is protected as if the conservator properly exercised the power. The fact that a person knowingly deals with a conservator does not alone require the person to inquire into the existence of power or the propriety of its exercise, but restrictions on powers of conservators that are endorsed on letters as provided in section 21-2072 are effective as to third persons. A person is not bound to see the proper application of estate assets paid or delivered to a conservator.
- (b) The protection expressed in this section extends to any procedural irregularity or jurisdictional defect occurring in proceedings leading to the issuance of letters and is not a substitute for protection provided by comparable provisions of the law relating to commercial transactions or to simplifying transfers of securities by fiduciaries.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2069.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-322 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2070. POWERS OF CONSERVATOR IN ADMINISTRATION.

- (a) Subject to limitation provided in section 21-2072, a conservator has all of the powers conferred in this section and any additional powers conferred by the law of the District.
- (b) Without court authorization or confirmation, a conservator may invest and reinvest funds of the estate as would a trustee.
- (c) A conservator, acting reasonably in efforts to accomplish a purpose of the appointment, may act without court authorization or confirmation, to perform the following:
 - (1) Collect, hold, and retain assets of the estate including land in another jurisdiction, until judging that disposition of the assets should be made, and the assets may be retained even though they include an asset in which the conservator is personally interested;
 - (2) Receive additions to the estate;
 - (3) Continue or participate in the operation of any business or other enterprise;
 - (4) Acquire an undivided interest in an estate asset in which the conservator, in any fiduciary capacity, holds an undivided interest;
 - (5) Invest and reinvest estate assets in accordance with subsection (b) of this section;
 - (6) Deposit estate funds in a local or federally insured financial institution, including a financial institution operated by the conservator;
 - (7) Acquire or dispose of an estate asset, including land in another jurisdiction, for cash or on credit, at public or private sale, and manage, develop, improve, exchange, partition, change the character of, or abandon an estate asset;
 - (8) Make ordinary or extraordinary repairs or alterations in buildings or other structures, demolish any improvements, and raze existing or erect new party walls or buildings;
 - (9) Subdivide, develop, or dedicate land to public use, make or obtain the vacation of plats and adjust boundaries, adjust differences in valuation or exchange, partition by giving or receiving considerations, and dedicate easements to public use without consideration;
 - (10) Enter, for any purpose, into a lease as lessor or lessee, with or without option to purchase or renew, for a term within or extending beyond the term of the conservatorship;
 - (11) Enter into a lease or arrangement for exploration and removal of minerals or other natural resources or enter into a polling or agreement;
 - (12) Grant an option involving disposition of an estate asset and take an option for the acquisition of any asset;
 - (13) Vote a security, in person or by general or limited proxy;
 - (14) Pay calls, assessments, and any other sums chargeable or accruing against or on account of securities:
 - (15) Sell or exercise stock-subscription or conversion rights;
 - (16) Consent, directly or through a committee or other agent, to the reorganization, consolidation, merger, dissolution, or liquidation of a corporation or other business enterprise;
 - (17) Insure the assets of the estate against damage or loss and the conservator against liability with respect to third persons;
 - (18) Borrow money to be repaid from estate assets or otherwise, advance money for the protection of the estate or the protected individual and for all expenses, losses, and liabilities sustained in the administration of the estate or because of the holding or ownership of any estate assets, for which the conservator has a lien on the estate as against the protected individual for advances so made;
 - (19) Pay or contest any claim, settle a claim by or against the estate or the protected individual by compromise, arbitration, or otherwise, and release, in whole or part, any claim belonging to the estate to the extent the claim is uncollectible;
 - (20) Pay taxes, assessments, compensation of the conservator, and other expenses incurred in the collection, care, administration, and protection of the estate;
 - (21) Allocate items of income or expense to either estate income or principal, as provided by law, including creation of reserves out of income for depreciation, obsolescence, amortization, or for depletion in mineral or timber properties;
 - (22) Pay any sum distributable to a protected individual or dependent of the protected individual by

paying the sum to the distributee or by paying the sum for the use of the distributee to the guardian of the distributee, or, if none, to a relative or other person having custody of the distributee;

- (23) Employ persons, including attorneys, auditors, investment advisors, or agents to advise or assist in the performance of administrative duties, act upon their recommendation without independent investigation, and instead of acting personally, employ 1 or more agents to perform any act of administration, whether discretionary or not;
- (24) Prosecute or defend actions, claims, or proceedings in any jurisdiction for the protection of estate assets and for the protection of the conservator in the performance of fiduciary duties; and
- (25) Execute and deliver all instruments that will accomplish or facilitate the exercise of the powers vested in the conservator.
- (d) A conservator or a guardian who exercises a settlor's power to consent to the modification or termination of a noncharitable irrevocable trust under section 19-1304.11(a), or who exercises a settlor's powers with respect to revocation, amendment, or distribution of trust property under section 19-1306.02(f), may do so only with the approval of the court supervising the conservatorship or guardianship upon a finding by the court that the action is not inconsistent with the trust purposes.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Mar. 24, 1998, D.C. Law 12-81, § 14(v), 45 DCR 745; Mar. 10, 2004, D.C. Law 15-104, § 3(b), 51 DCR 208.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2070.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 15-104 added subsec. (d).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-81, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2011.

For Law 15-104, see notes following § 21-1721.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-323 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2071. DISTRIBUTIVE DUTIES AND POWERS OF CONSERVATOR.

A conservator may expend or distribute income or principal of the estate without court authorization or confirmation for the support, education, care, or benefit of the protected individual and dependents in accordance with the following principles:

- (1) The conservator shall consider recommendations relating to the appropriate standard of support, education, and benefit of the protected individual or dependent made by the protected individual and a parent or guardian, if any. The conservator may not be surcharged for sums paid to persons furnishing support, education, or care to the protected individual or a dependent pursuant to the recommendations of a guardian of the protected individual unless the conservator knows that the guardian derives personal financial benefit from the recommendation, including relief from any personal duty of support, or knows that the recommendations are clearly not in the best interest of the protected individual.
- (2) The conservator shall expend or distribute sums reasonably necessary for the support, education, care, or benefit of the protected individual and dependents with due regard to:
 - (A) The size of the estate, the probable duration of the conservatorship, and the likelihood that the protected individual, at some future time, may be fully able to be wholly self-sufficient and able to manage business affairs and the estate;
 - (B) The accustomed standard of living of the protected individual and dependents; and
 - (C) Other funds or sources used for the support of the protected individual.
- (3) The conservator may expend funds of the estate for the support of individuals legally dependent on the protected individual and others who are members of the protected individual's household who are unable to support themselves and who are in need of support.
- (4) Funds expended under this section may be paid by the conservator to any person, including the protected individual, to reimburse for expenditures that the conservator might have made, or in

advance for services to be rendered to the protected individual if it is reasonable to expect that the services will be performed and advance payments are customary or reasonably necessary under the circumstances.

(5) A conservator, in discharging the responsibilities conferred by court order and this section, shall implement the principles described in section 21- 2055(a).

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Mar. 24, 1998, D.C. Law 12-81, § 14(w), 45 DCR 745.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2071.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-81, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2011.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-324 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2072. ENLARGEMENT OR LIMITATION OF POWERS OF CONSERVATOR.

Subject to the restrictions in section 21-2055(c), the court may confer on a conservator, at the time of appointment or later, in addition to the powers conferred by sections 21-2070 and 21-2071, any power that the court itself could exercise under section 21-2055(b)(2). The court, at the time of appointment or later, may limit the powers of a conservator otherwise conferred by sections 21-2070 and 21-2071 or previously conferred by the court and may at any time remove or modify any limitations. If the court limits any power conferred on the conservator by section 21-2070 or section 21-2071, or specifies, as provided in section 21-2066(a), that title to some but not all assets of the protected individual vest in the conservator, the limitation or specification of assets subject to the conservatorship shall be endorsed upon the letters of appointment.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2072.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-325 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2073. PRESERVATION OF ESTATE PLAN; RIGHT TO EXAMINE.

In investing the estate, selecting assets of the estate for distribution under section 21-2071, and utilizing powers of revocation or withdrawal available for the support of the protected individual and exercisable by the conservator or the court, the conservator and the court shall take into account any estate plan of the protected individual known to them, including a will, any revocable trust of which the individual is settlor, and any contract, transfer, or joint ownership arrangement originated by the protected individual with provisions for payment or transfer of benefits or interests at the individual's death to another. The conservator may examine the will of the protected individual.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2073.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-326 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2074. PERSONAL LIABILITY OF CONSERVATOR.

- (a) Even if otherwise provided for in the contract, a conservator is not personally liable on a contract properly entered into in a fiduciary capacity in the course of administration or distribution of the estate unless the conservator fails to reveal the representative capacity and identify the estate in the contract.
- (b) The conservator is personally liable for obligations arising from ownership or control of property of the estate or for torts committed in the course of administration of the estate only if personally at fault.
- (c) Claims based on (1) contracts entered into by a conservator in a fiduciary capacity, (2) obligations arising from ownership or control of the estate, or (3) torts committed in the course of administration of the estate, may be asserted against the estate by proceeding against the conservator in a fiduciary capacity, whether or not the conservator is personally liable for the claim.
- (d) Any question of liability between the estate and the conservator personally may be determined in a proceeding for accounting, surcharge, or indemnification, or other appropriate proceeding or action.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2074.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-328 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2075. TERMINATION OF PROCEEDINGS.

The protected individual, conservator, or any other interested person may petition the court to terminate the conservatorship. A protected individual seeking termination is entitled to the same rights and procedures as in an original proceeding for a protective order. The court, upon determining after notice and hearing that the incapacity of the protected individual or the need for the protective arrangement has ceased, shall terminate the conservatorship. Upon termination, title to assets of the estate passes to the formerly protected individual or to successors. The order of termination shall provide for expenses of administration and direct the conservator to execute appropriate instruments to evidence the transfer.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2075.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-329 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2076. PAYMENT OF DEBT AND DELIVERY OF PROPERTY TO FOREIGN CONSERVATOR WITHOUT LOCAL PROCEEDINGS.

(a) Any person indebted to a protected individual or having possession of property or of an instrument evidencing a debt, stock, or chose in action belonging to a protected individual may pay or deliver it to a conservator, guardian of the estate, or other fiduciary appointed by a court of the state of residence of the

protected individual upon being presented with proof of appointment and an affidavit made by or on behalf of the fiduciary stating:

- (1) That no protective proceeding relating to the protected individual is pending in the District; and
- (2) That the foreign fiduciary is entitled to payment or to receive delivery.
- (b) If the person to whom the affidavit is presented is not aware of any protective proceeding pending in the District, payment or delivery in response to the demand and affidavit discharges the debtor or possessor.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Mar. 24, 1998, D.C. Law 12-81, § 14(x), 45 DCR 745.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2076.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-81, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2011.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-330 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2077. FOREIGN CONSERVATOR; PROOF OF AUTHORITY; BOND; POWERS.

If a conservator has not been appointed in the District and no petition in a protective proceeding is pending in the District, a conservator appointed in the state in which the protected individual resides may file with the court authenticated copies of letters of appointment and copies of any bond. The domiciliary foreign conservator may then exercise, as to assets in the District, all powers of a conservator appointed in the District and may maintain actions and proceedings in the District subject to any conditions imposed upon nonresident parties generally.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2077.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2-331 of the Uniform Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act (1982 Act). See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

SUBCHAPTER VII. DURABLE POWER OF ATTORNEY.

Refs & Annos

Jurisdiction	Laws	Effective Date	Statutory Citation
Alabama	1981, No. 81- 98 p. 117	3-4-1981	Code 1975, § 26-1-2.
Arizona	1973, c. 75	1-1-1974	A.R.S. §§ 14-5501 to 14-5503.
California	1981, c. 511	9-16- 1981[FN*]	West's Ann.Cal.Probate Code, §§ 4124 to 4128, 4206, 4304, and 4305.
Colorado	1973, H.B. 1039	7-1-1974	West's C.R.S.A. §§ 15-14-500.3 to 15-14-502.
Delaware	1982 [63 Del.Laws], c. 267	6-21- 1982[FN*]	12 Del.C. §§ 4901 to 4906.
District of Columbia	1987, D.C.		D.C. Official Code, 2001 Ed. §§ 21-2081 to 21-

	Law 6-204		2085.
Florida	1974, c. 74-		West's F.S.A. §§ 709.2101 to 709.2402.
	245		
Hawaii	1989, c. 270	6-8-1989	HRS §§ 551D-1 to 551D-7.
ldaho	1982, c. 138		I.C. §§ 15-5-501 to 15-5-507.
Kentucky	1972, c. 168		KRS 386.093.
Michigan	1998, P.A. 386	4-1-2000	M.C.L.A. §§ 700.5501 to 700.5505.
Minnesota	1984, c. 603	8-1-1984	M.S.A. §§ 523.07 to 523.08.
Mississippi	1994, c. 336	7-1-1994	Code 1972, §§ 87-3-101 to 87-3-113.
Missouri	1989, H.B.No. 145	8-28-1989	V.A.M.S. §§ 404.700 to 404.735
Montana	1985, c. 283		MCA 72-5-501, 72-5-502.
Nebraska	1985, LB 292	9-6-1985	R.R.S.1943, §§ 30-2664 to 30-2672.
New Hampshire	2001, c. 257:1	1-1-2002	RSA 506:6.
New Jersey	2000, c. 109:1	9-8-2000[FN*]	N.J.S.A. 46:2B-8.1 to 46:2B-8.14.
New Mexico	1995, c. 210	7-1-1995	NMSA 1978, §§ 45-5-501 to 45-5-505.
New York	1996, c. 499	1-1-1997	McKinney's General Obligations Law §§ 5-1501, 5-1505, 5-1506.
North Carolina	1983, c. 626		GS §§ 32A-8 to 32A-14.
North Dakota	1985, c. 370		NDCC 30.1-30-01 to 30.1-30-06.
Oklahoma	1988, c. 293	11-1-1988	58 Okl.St.Ann. §§ 1071 to 1077.
Pennsylvania	1982, P.L. 45, No. 26, § 9	2-18-1982	20 Pa.C.S.A. §§ 5604 to 5606.
South Carolina	1986, Act 539	7-1-1987	Code 1976, §§ 62-5-501 to 62-5-505.
Tennessee	1983, c. 299	7-1-1983	T.C.A. §§ 34-6-101 to 34-6-111.
Texas	1993, c. 49	9-1-1993	V.A.T.S. Probate Code §§ 481 to 506.
Utah	1975, c. 150	7-1-1977	U.C.A. 1953, 75-5-501 to 75-5-504.
Vermont	2001, No. 135	6-13-2002	14 V.S.A. § 3508.
Virgin Islands	1991, No. 5718	9-23-1991	15 V.I.C. §§ 1261 to 1267.
Washington	1985, c. 30		West's RCWA 11.94.010 to 11.94.901.
West Virginia	1986, c. 165	7-1-1986	Code, §§ 39-4-1 to 39-4-7.

[FN*] Date of approval.

§ 21-2081. DEFINITION.

A durable power of attorney is a power of attorney by which a principal designates, in writing, another as his or her attorney in fact and the writing contains the words "This power of attorney shall not be affected by subsequent disability or incapacity of the principal, or lapse of time", or "This power of attorney shall become effective upon the disability or incapacity of the principal", or similar words showing the intent of the principal that the authority conferred shall be exercisable notwithstanding the principal's subsequent disability or incapacity and, unless it states a time of termination, notwithstanding the lapse of time since the execution of the instrument.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2081.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1 of the Uniform Durable Power of Attorney Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2082. DURABLE POWER OF ATTORNEY NOT AFFECTED BY INCAPACITY.

All acts done by an attorney in fact pursuant to a durable power of attorney during any period of incapacity of the principal have the same effect and inure to the benefit of and bind the principal and his successors

in interest as if the principal were not incapacitated.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2082.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2 of the Uniform Durable Power of Attorney Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2083. RELATION OF ATTORNEY IN FACT TO COURT-APPOINTED FIDUCIARY.

- (a) If, following execution of a durable power of attorney, a court of the principal's domicile appoints a conservator, guardian of the estate, or other fiduciary charged with the management of all of the principal's property or all of his or her property except specific exclusions, the attorney in fact is accountable to the fiduciary as well as to the principal. The fiduciary has the same power to revoke or amend the power of attorney that the principal would have had if he or she were not incapacitated and did not have a disability.
- (b) A principal may nominate, by a durable power of attorney, the conservator, guardian of his or her estate, or guardian of his or her person for consideration by the court if protective proceedings for the principal's person or estate are later commenced. The court shall make its appointment in accordance with the principal's most recent nomination in a durable power of attorney except for good cause or disqualification.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632; Apr. 24, 2007, D.C. Law 16-305, § 35(c)(4), 53 DCR 6198.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2083.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-305, in subsec. (a), substituted "incapacitated and did not have a disability" for "disabled or incapacitated".

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

For Law 16-305, see notes following § 21-501.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 3 of the Uniform Durable Power of Attorney Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2084. POWER OF ATTORNEY NOT REVOKED UNTIL NOTICE.

- (a) The death of a principal who has executed a power of attorney, durable or otherwise, does not revoke or terminate the agency as to the attorney in fact or other person, who, without actual knowledge of the death of the principal, acts in good faith under the power. Any action so taken, unless otherwise invalid or unenforceable, binds successors in interest of the principal.
- (b) The incapacity of a principal who has previously executed a written power of attorney that is not a durable power does not revoke or terminate the agency as to the attorney in fact or other person, who, without actual knowledge of the disability or incapacity of the principal, acts in good faith under the power. Any action so taken, unless otherwise invalid or unenforceable, binds the principal and his successors in interest.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2084.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform I aw

This section is based upon § 4 of the Uniform Durable Power of Attorney Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2085. PROOF OF CONTINUANCE OF DURABLE AND OTHER POWERS OF ATTORNEY BY AFFIDAVIT.

As to acts undertaken in good faith reliance thereon, an affidavit executed by the attorney in fact under a power of attorney, durable or otherwise, stating that he or she did not have, at the time of exercise of the power, actual knowledge of the termination of the power by revocation or of the principal's death or incapacity, is conclusive of the nonrevocation or nontermination of the power at that time. If the exercise of the power of attorney requires execution and delivery of any instrument that is recordable, the affidavit when authenticated for record is recordable in the same manner. This section does not affect any provision in a power of attorney for its termination by expiration of time or occurrence of an event other than express revocation or a change in the principal's capacity.

(Feb. 28, 1987, D.C. Law 6-204, § 2(a), 34 DCR 632.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2085.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 6-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2001.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 5 of the Uniform Durable Power of Attorney Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

SUBCHAPTER VIII. UNIFORM DISCLAIMER OF PROPERTY INTERESTS.[REPEALED]

§ 21-2091. RIGHT TO DISCLAIM INTEREST IN PROPERTY. [REPEALED]

(Mar. 6, 1991, D.C. Law 8-204, § 2, 37 DCR 8439; July 25, 1995, D.C. Law 11-30, § 5(a), 42 DCR 1547; Apr. 27, 2001, D.C. Law 13-292, § 806, 48 DCR 2087; Mar. 2, 2007, D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b), 53 DCR 9063; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, 56 DCR 1117.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2091.

Legislative History of Laws

Law 8-204, the "District of Columbia Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act of 1990," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 8-84, which was referred to the Committee on Human Services. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 20, 1990, and December 4, 1990, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 14, 1990, it was assigned Act No. 8-279 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 11-30, the "Technical Amendments Act of 1995," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 11-58, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on February 7, 1995, and March 7, 1995, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on March 22, 1995, it was assigned Act No. 11-32 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 11-30 became effective on July 25, 1995.

For Law 13-292, see notes following § 21-309.

Law 16-205, the "Uniform Disclaimers of Property Interests Revision Act of 2006", was introduced in Council

and assigned Bill No. 16-707, which was referred to the Committee on Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on July 11, 2006, and October 3, 2006, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on October 25, 2006, it was assigned Act No. 16-505 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 16-205 became effective on March 2, 2007.

Law 17-353, the "Technical Amendments Act of 2008", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-994 which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 2, 2008, and December 16, 2008, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 15, 2009, it was assigned Act No. 17-687 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-353 became effective on March 25, 2009.

Miscellaneous Notes

Section 1102 of D.C. Law 13-292 provides:

"For purposes of Title 5 and Title 9 and sections 801(b), 805, and 806 of Title 8 [of this act], the provisions relating to the administration of decedent's estates shall apply only to the estates of decedent's who die on or after the effective date of this act."

D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, made a technical correction in the repeal of this section by D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b). New Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests: See § 19-1501 et seq.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 1 of the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2092. TIME OF DISCLAIMER; DELIVERY. [REPEALED]

(Mar. 6, 1991, D.C. Law 8-204, § 3, 37 DCR 8439; Mar. 2, 2007, D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b), 53 DCR 9063; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, 56 DCR 1117.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2092.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 16-205, see notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 17-353, see notes following § 21-2091.

Miscellaneous Notes

D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, made a technical correction in the repeal of this section by D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b).

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 2 of the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2093. FORM OF DISCLAIMER.[REPEALED]

(Mar. 6, 1991, D.C. Law 8-204, § 4, 37 DCR 8439; Mar. 2, 2007, D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b), 53 DCR 9063.) (Mar. 6, 1991, D.C. Law 8-204, § 4, 37 DCR 8439; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, 56 DCR 1117.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2093.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 16-205, see notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 17-353, see notes following § 21-2091.

Miscellaneous Notes

D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, made a technical correction in the repeal of this section by D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b).

This section is based upon § 3 of the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2094. EFFECT OF DISCLAIMER. [REPEALED]

(Mar. 6, 1991, D.C. Law 8-204, § 5, 37 DCR 8439; Mar. 2, 2007, D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b), 53 DCR 9063; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, 56 DCR 1117.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2094.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 16-205, see notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 17-353, see notes following § 21-2091.

Miscellaneous Notes

D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, made a technical correction in the repeal of this section by D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b).

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 4 of the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2095. WAIVER AND BAR. [REPEALED]

(Mar. 6, 1991, D.C. Law 8-204, § 6, 37 DCR 8439; Mar. 2, 2007, D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b), 53 DCR 9063; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, 56 DCR 1117.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2095.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 16-205, see notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 17-353, see notes following § 21-2091.

Miscellaneous Notes

D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, made a technical correction in the repeal of this section by D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b).

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 5 of the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2096. REMEDY NOT EXCLUSIVE. [REPEALED]

(Mar. 6, 1991, D.C. Law 8-204, § 7, 37 DCR 8439; July 25, 1995, D.C. Law 11-30, § 5(b), 42 DCR 1547; Mar. 2, 2007, D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b), 53 DCR 9063; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, 56 DCR 1117.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2096.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2091.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 11-30, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 16-205, see notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 17-353, see notes following § 21-2091.

Miscellaneous Notes

D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, made a technical correction in the repeal of this section by D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b).

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 6 of the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2097. APPLICATION. [REPEALED]

(Mar. 6, 1991, D.C. Law 8-204, § 8, 37 DCR 8439; July 25, 1995, D.C. Law 11-30, § 5(c), 42 DCR 1547; Mar. 2, 2007, D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b), 53 DCR 9063; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, 56 DCR 1117.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2097.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-204, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2091.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 11-30, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 16-205, see notes following § 21-2091.

For Law 17-353, see notes following § 21-2091.

Miscellaneous Notes

D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, made a technical correction in the repeal of this section by D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b).

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 7 of the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.

§ 21-2098. UNIFORMITY OF APPLICATION AND CONSTRUCTION.[REPEALED]

(Mar. 6, 1991, D.C. Law 8-204, § 8, 37 DCR 8439; July 25, 1995, D.C. Law 11-30, § 5(d), 42 DCR 1547; Mar. 2, 2007, D.C. Law 16-205, § 3(b), 53 DCR 9063; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-353, § 308, 56 DCR 1117.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 21-2098.

Uniform Law

This section is based upon § 8 of the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act. See 8A Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Edition, or ULA Database on WESTLAW.